
 
 

 

 
Meeting of:   

 
Cabinet 

Date: Tuesday, 9th February, 2021 
Time: 6.00 pm. 
Venue: Zoom Meeting 

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by 
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page No 

1   Apologies   

 To receive any apologies for absence.  

2   Declarations of Interest   

 Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 

or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 

those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 

of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

 

3   Urgent Items of Business   

 To determine whether there are any additional items of business 

which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 

be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

4   Items for Exclusion of Public and Press   

 To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 

be excluded from the meeting. 

 

5   GM Clean Air Plan Update  4 - 27 

 To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Climate Change and  
Sustainability/ Director of Neighbourhoods 

 

6   Discretionary Fees & Charges 2020/21– Careline Service  28 - 30 

 To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Social Care and  

Public Document Pack



Ageing Well/Director of Adult Care  

7   E-Scooter Trial -  Permission to Tender  31 - 35 

 To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Climate Change and  
Sustainability/ Director of Economy 

 

8   Finance Update Report 2020/21 Period 8  36 - 74 

 To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate 

Delivery/Chief Finance Officer 

 

9   Exclusion of Press and Public   

 To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 

part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A) 4 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 

likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 

interest would not be served in publishing the information.  

 

10   Management of Hollingworth Lake Country Park - Proposal for 

Investment  

75 - 88 

 To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for A Safer and Inclusive 

Community/ Cabinet Member for Quality of Place/ Director of 

Neighbourhoods  

 

 

Cabinet Members 
Councillor Daalat Ali Councillor Allen Brett 
Councillor Neil Emmott Councillor Janet Emsley 
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed Councillor John Blundell 
Councillor Kieran Heakin Councillor Sara Rowbotham 
Councillor Carol Wardle  
 

For more information about this meeting, please contact  
Alison James 
 
01706 924711/924715 
alison.james@Rochdale.Gov.UK 



 

Report to Cabinet 
 

 

Date of Meeting 9th February 2021 
Portfolio Portfolio Holder Climate 

Change and Sustainability 
Report Author Nicola Rogers 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

GM Clean Air Plan Update 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2 
 

In Greater Manchester, the 10 local authorities, the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority (GMCA) and Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM), 
collectively referred to as “Greater Manchester” or “GM”, have worked together 
to develop a Clean Air Plan to tackle NO2 Exceedances at the Roadside, 
referred to as GM CAP. This report sets the progress of the GM CAP and the 
next steps for the development of the Clean Air Plan and the closely linked 
Minimum Licensing Standards (MLS) for taxi and private hire services. Key 
developments since the last GMCA report include: 
 

 Since the last report there has been no confirmation or offer of 
government funding for LGVs or hackneys, or the taxi and private 
hire electric vehicle charge points.  
 

 Government ministers have agreed to consider extending Greater 
Manchester’s Clean Air Zone (CAZ) charges to the sections of the 
A628/A57 in Tameside which form part of the Strategic Road 
Network, within the proposed CAZ boundary. The extension of any 
charges to the A628/A57 will be subject to a full assessment of the 
potential impacts, to be led by Highways England. Following the 
assessment ministers will take the final decision on whether or not 
charging should be implemented on the A628/A57. 

 

 GM was awarded £14.7m of funding for the retrofitting of buses, and 
this work commenced in December 2020. GM’s bus retrofit fund 
offers operators of locally registered bus services up to £16k of 
funding per vehicle towards the retrofit of non-compliant buses. The 
funding is available for vehicles, including minibuses and coaches, 
operating on a registered bus service within Greater Manchester. 
This includes cross-boundary services operating within the GM CAZ 
boundary.  

 
The report sets out the near-term impacts of COVID-19 government 
restrictions on movement on air quality. It sets out how air quality is legally 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.5 
 
 
 
1.6 
 
 
 
 
1.7 
 
 
 
 

monitored, and how the Government has directed GM (and other areas) under 
UK law to address exceedance of the Annual Average standard for NO2 which 
is set at 40 ug/m3. As GM Clean Air Plan is required to take action to tackle 
nitrogen dioxide exceedances until compliance with legal limits has been 
demonstrated (over a number of years), the nearer term influence of COVID-
19 on air quality is not expected to lead to sufficiently long term reductions in 
pollution such that the modelled exceedances of the legal NO2 limits will be 
met without implementing a Clean Air Zone. 
 
The report sets out that following the conclusion of the consultation, both GM 
CAP and MLS consultation responses are being analysed and reported on by 
an independent research agency. GM authorities will fully consider all of the 
information and evidence gathered during the consultation, so that they can 
understand the consequences COVID-19 has had on vehicle owners and 
trades which will be directly affected by the GM CAP and MLS. 
 
The report and appendices also set out the work TfGM is undertaking on 
behalf of the ten Greater Manchester Authorities in the preparatory 
implementation and contract arrangements required to deliver the CAZ and 
other GM CAP measures. Preparatory work is required in order to maintain 
delivery momentum in line with the funding arrangements agreed with JAQU, 
for example in relation to automatic number plate recognition (ANPR) 
cameras, back office systems and service providers.  
 
The report then covers the consultation approach, engagement activity, 
additional research undertaken and the number of responses to both the GM 
CAP and MLS consultations. 
 
The report also sets out the governance approach to both GM CAP and MLS, 
with the GM CAP final plan to be brought forward for decision makers as soon 
as is reasonably practicable and no later than summer 2021, and the outputs 
of the MLS to be reported alongside the GM CAP at the same time. 
 
Due to the dynamic context of COVID-19 and national and regional/local 
lockdowns, progress on the development of the final plan will be provided by 
the Green City Region Lead, as required at GMCA meetings. 
 

 

Recommendations 

 
2.1 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
2.3 
 
2.4 
 

Cabinet is asked to note the progress of the Greater Manchester Clean Air 
Plan; 
 
Note the next steps for the development of the Clean Air Plan and Minimum 
Licensing Standards, listed at Section 12; 
 
Note the distribution of Bus Retrofit funding commenced in December 2020; 
 
Note that Government ministers have agreed to consider extending Greater 
Manchester’s Clean Air Zone (CAZ) charges to the sections of the A628/A57 

Page 4



 
 
 
 
2.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.6 
 
 
2.7 
 
 

2.8 
 
 
 
2.9 
 
 
 
2.10 
 
 
 

2.11 
 
 
 
 
 
2.12 
 
 
 

 
2.13 

which form part of the Strategic Road Network, within the proposed CAZ 
boundary, subject to the outcomes of an assessment, which is expected to be 
completed by early 2021; 
 

Note that the GM Clean Air Plan is required to take action to tackle nitrogen 
dioxide exceedances until compliance with the legal limits has been 
demonstrated and that the nearer term influence of COVID-19 on air quality is 
not expected to lead to sufficiently long term reductions in pollution such that 
the exceedances of the legal limits of nitrogen dioxide will not occur without 
implementing a Clean Air Zone; 
 

Note that the GM CAP final plan will be brought forward for decision makers 
as soon as is reasonably practicable and no later than summer 2021; 
 
Note that the outputs of the MLS will be reported alongside the GM CAP as 
soon as is reasonably practicable and no later than summer 2021; and 

 
Agree to the establishment of joint committees and to delegate to those 
committees the Authority’s functions as set out in this report at paragraph 9.5 
and the terms of reference, as set out in Appendix 6. 

 

Appoint the Portfolio Holder for Climate Change and Sustainability to sit on 
both committees for purposes as set out in this report at paragraph 9.5 with 
specific terms of reference, as set out in Appendix 6. 

 

Appoint Assistant to the Portfolio Holder for Climate Change and Sustainability 
as substitute for both committees for purposes as set out in this report at 
paragraph 9.5 with specific terms of reference, as set out in Appendix 6. 

 

Rochdale Borough Council agrees to enter into a collaboration agreement with 
the other 9 GM local authorities and GMCA/TfGM to clarify amongst other 
matters the rights, responsibilities and obligations of the authorities in relation 
to those contracts set out in Appendix 2 that are required to maintain delivery 
momentum in line with JAQU funding agreements.  

 

Agree a delegation to the Director of Neighbourhoods in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Climate Change and Sustainability, and Assistant Director 
Legal Governance & Workforce to agree the final form of the collaboration 
agreement; 

 

Agree a delegation to the Director of Neighbourhoods in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Climate Change and Sustainability, and Assistant Director 
Legal Governance & Workforce to award the contracts set out in Appendix 2 
(subject to government funding) that are required to implement a charging 
Clean Air Zone in Spring 2022 to ensure the achievement of Nitrogen Dioxide 
compliance in the shortest possible time and by 2024 at the latest as required 
by the Ministerial Direction. 
 

2.14 Agree a delegation to the Director of Neighbourhoods in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Climate Change and Sustainability to approve the 
submission of supplementary information to the Government's Joint Air Quality 
Unit (JAQU). 

Page 5



 
 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In July 2017 the Secretary of State issued a Direction under the Environment 
Act 1995 requiring seven Greater Manchester local authorities to produce a 
feasibility study to identify the option which would deliver compliance with the 
requirement to meet legal limits for nitrogen dioxide in their areas in the 
shortest possible time.  
 
Rochdale Borough Council was not required to act under this Direction, 
however the Council was required to address the exceedances of nitrogen 
dioxide that have been identified within its boundaries during the Target 
Determination exercise. Rochdale BC has therefore been developing a 
feasibility study collectively with the other 9 Greater Manchester local 
authorities and the GMCA, and coordinated by TfGM in line with Government 
direction and guidance and an Outline Business Case (OBC) was duly 
submitted in March 2019. 
 
Rochdale BC along with the other 9 Greater Manchester local authorities is 
now subject to a Ministerial direction dated 16 March 2020 requiring the 
submission of an Interim Full Business Case (FBC) (along with confirmation 
that all public consultation activity has completed) as soon as possible and by 
no later than 30 October 2020. Under this direction Rochdale BC along with 
the other 9 Greater Manchester local authorities is under a legal duty to 
ensure that the GM CAP Charging Clean Air Zone Class C with additional 
measures) is implemented so that NO2 compliance is achieved in the shortest 
possible time and by 2024 at the latest and that human exposure is reduced 
as quickly as possible. 
 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4. 
 
4.1 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
4.4 
 

Background / Introduction 
 
Poor air quality is the largest environmental risk to the public’s health. 
Taking action to improve air quality is crucial to improve population health. 
 
Whilst air quality has been generally improving over time, particular 
pollutants remain a serious concern in many urban areas. These are oxides 
of nitrogen (NOx) and its harmful form nitrogen dioxide (NO2), and 
particulate matter (PM).  
 
In Greater Manchester, road transport is responsible for approximately 80% 
of NO2 concentrations at roadside, of which diesel vehicles are the largest 
source. 
 
Long-term exposure to elevated levels of particulate matter (PM2.5, PM10) 
and NO2 may contribute to the development of cardiovascular or respiratory 

Page 6



 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
 
4.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.7 
 
 
 
 
 
4.8 
 
 
 
 
 
4.9 
 
 
 
4.10 
 
 
 
 
4.11 
 

disease and may reduce life expectancy1. The youngest, the oldest, those 
living in areas of deprivation, and those with existing respiratory or 
cardiovascular disease are most likely to develop symptoms due to 
exposure to air pollution2,3.  
 
Public Health England estimate the health and social care costs across 
England due to exposure to air pollution will be £5.3 billion by 2035 for 
diseases where there is a strong association with air pollution, or £18.6 
billion for all diseases with evidence of an association with air pollution4. 
 
The Secretary of State has instructed many local authorities across the UK 
to take quick action to reduce harmful Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) levels, issuing 
a direction under the Environment Act 1995 to undertake feasibility studies 
to identify measures for reducing NO2 concentrations to within legal limit 
values in the “shortest possible time”. In Greater Manchester, the 10 local 
authorities, the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) and 
Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM), collectively referred to as 
“Greater Manchester” or “GM”, have worked together to develop a Clean Air 
Plan to tackle NO2 Exceedances at the Roadside, referred to as GM CAP. 
 
The core goal of the GM Clean Air Plan is to address the legal requirement 
to remove ALL concentrations of NO2 that have been forecast to exceed the 
legal Limit Value (40 µg/m3) identified through the target determination 
process in the “shortest possible time” in line with Government guidance and 
legal rulings.  
 
Throughout the development of the plan GM has considered a range of 
options to deliver compliance, overseen by the GM Steering Group5, and to 
understand the type and scale of intervention needed to reduce NO2 to 
within legal Limit Values in the “shortest possible time” across Greater 
Manchester. 
 
A best performing option was recommended within an Outline Business 
Case (OBC) for further consideration and discussion with stakeholders and 
the public to aid the development of the Full Business Case. 
 
In March 2019 the GM Authorities agreed the submission of the OBC that 
proposed a package of measures that was considered would deliver 
compliance in the shortest possible time, at the lowest cost, least risk and 
with the least negative impacts.  
 
The OBC made clear the expectation that the UK Government would 
support the plans through:  

                                                           
1 Air Quality – A Briefing for Directors of Public Health (2017), https://www.local.gov.uk/air-quality-briefing-
directors-public-health  
2 Air Quality – A Briefing for Directors of Public Health (2017), https://www.local.gov.uk/air-quality-briefing-
directors-public-health 
3 RCP and RCPCH London, Every breath we take lifelong impact of air pollution (2016), 
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution  
4 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-tool-calculates-nhs-and-social-care-costs-of-air-pollution  
5 Members include Directors or Assistant Directors from each GM authority. 

Page 7

https://www.local.gov.uk/air-quality-briefing-directors-public-health
https://www.local.gov.uk/air-quality-briefing-directors-public-health
https://www.local.gov.uk/air-quality-briefing-directors-public-health
https://www.local.gov.uk/air-quality-briefing-directors-public-health
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-tool-calculates-nhs-and-social-care-costs-of-air-pollution


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
4.12 
 

 
 
 
 
 

4.13 
 
 
 
 

 
 
4.14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.15 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. 
 
5.1 

 

 Clear arrangements and funding to develop workable, local 
vehicle scrappage / upgrade measures;  
 

 Short term effective interventions in vehicle and technology 
manufacturing and distribution, led by national Government 
with local authorities;  

 

 Replacement of non-compliant buses; and  
 

 A clear instruction to Highways England with regard to air 
pollution from the Strategic Road Network (SRN) in Greater 
Manchester6.  

 
The GMCA – Clean Air Update report on 30 June 20207 detailed that in 
March 2020 the Government provided initial funding of £41m for clean 
vehicle funds to award grants or loans to eligible businesses: £15.4m for bus 
retrofit, £10.7m for Private Hire Vehicles, £8m for HGVs, £4.6m for coaches 
and £2.1m for minibuses. Note: These figures include JAQU estimated 
delivery costs at 5%. 
 
The GMCA – Clean Air Update report on 25 August 20207 detailed updates 
on the developments of the GM Clean Air Plan including the Light Goods 
Vehicles (LGV) and hackney carriage funding position, interaction with the 
strategic route network and Highways England, confirmed arrangements for 
distributing funding received for bus retrofit and highlighted separate 
discussions with DfT about funding for bus replacement. 
 
It set out a proposal for consultation, detailed the positions for consultation 
on the daily charges, discounts and exemptions, and the proposed funding 
offer for each of the supporting funds, and the Vehicle Finance offer. The 
report also considered the proposed Governance arrangements for the CAZ 
and that TfGM will act as an ‘operating body’ responsible for day to day 
operation of the CAZ and the implementation of other GM CAP measures. 
 
The report also highlighted the link to taxi and private hire vehicle common 
minimum licensing standards (MLS). In 2018, GM’s ten local authorities 
agreed to collectively develop, approve and implement a common set of 
minimum licensing standards (MLS) for Taxi and Private Hire services that 
cover the whole of GM and to undertake parallel consultations for MLS and 
GM CAP, to ensure that so those affected by both policy positions can 
understand the full impact of the proposals and respond to the consultations. 
 
COVID-19: The Impact on Air Quality 
 

Since the COVID-19 pandemic has progressed there have been many 

                                                           
6 GM Authorities are directed to take action on the local road network those roads managed by 

Highways England, such as motorways and trunk roads are excluded from the Clean Air Plan. 

7 Also considered by the GM Authorities through their own constitutional decision-making arrangements. 

Page 8



 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
 
 
5.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 

questions asked about what its effects on traffic mean for Greater 
Manchester’s Clean Air Plan (GM CAP).  In particular, the GM Authorities 
have been asked for comparative data for Air Quality monitoring for this year 
– during the full lockdown period and more recently - compared with last 
year. 

 
Whilst data from 2019 is available, the comparator data for 2020 isn’t; this is 
because a full calendar year of results is needed to make a comparison with 
the relevant standard. The Government has directed GM (and other areas) 
under UK law to address exceedance of the Annual Average standard for 
NO2 which is set at 40 ug/m3.  

 
Greater Manchester issues its Air Quality data annually in the Air Quality 
Annual Status Report, so for 2020 this information will be published in June 
2021. This is due to the fact that diffusion tube data (that measures NO2 
concentrations) needs to be validated, by application of a bias adjustment 
process. 

 
The bias adjustment process uses co-location of diffusion tubes with 
continuous monitors, and comparison of the two measured concentrations. 
Data from our continuous monitors is considered provisional until it has been 
ratified through a Quality Assurance process, completed by an independent 
party in April of the following calendar year. 

 
The diffusion tube results used to calculate the annual mean concentration, 
for comparison with Annual Mean NO2 standard of 40 ug/m3, are processed 
once the continuous monitoring data is ratified, and the bias adjustment 
factor can be finalised. 
 
Whilst the COVID-19 pandemic has caused changes that radically altered 
transport patterns and behaviour, the relaxation of ‘lockdown 1’ (March – 
May 20) travel restrictions since June led to increasing vehicle flows. By the 
introduction of ‘lockdown 2’ (November 20), traffic flows were at around 85% 
of typical pre-COVID-19 levels. Because the GM Clean Air Plan is required 
to take action to take NO2 levels over a number of years into the future in 
order to demonstrate compliance with legal limits8, the nearer term influence 
of COVID-19 on air quality is not expected to lead to sufficiently long term 
reductions in pollution such that the modelled exceedances of the legal NO2 
limits will be met without implementing a Clean Air Zone. 
 
In practice, there are many ways in which the pandemic could influence 
future emissions: in particular, sustained traffic reductions due to permanent 
increases in working from home or other lifestyle changes, or reductions in 
bus services due to a sustained decline in demand could reduce emissions, 
whilst an older fleet on the roads due to vehicle owners delaying vehicle 
purchases as a result of the pandemic and manufacturing constraints on 
new vehicles could delay expected necessary future improvements to the 

                                                           
8 The modelling approved by government of NO2 concentrations in Greater Manchester predicts that 

exceedance of the legal limit is likely to continue until 2027, if action is not taken to reduce road vehicle 
emissions. 
 

Page 9



 
 
6. 
 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.3 
 
 
 

 

 
6.4 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
6.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

emissions of circulating vehicles. 
 
COVID-19 Economic Impacts and Building Back Better 

As has been outlined earlier in the report the core goal of the GM Clean Air 
Plan is to address the legal requirement to remove ALL roadside 
concentrations of NO2 that have been forecast to exceed the legal Limit 
Value (40 µg/m3), identified through the target determination process, in the 
“shortest possible time” in line with Government guidance and legal 
requirements.  

The aim of the Government’s funding set out in the plan is to assist vehicle 
owners with upgrading their vehicle to a compliant vehicle and to mitigate 
the negative socio-economic effects of the GM CAZ. Government  funding 
for the clean air plans is limited and has not to date been designed in 
consideration of the economic effects of COVID-19,  and given that all of 
GM’s proposals were prepared pre-COVID, GM has undertaken to make an 
assessment of the possible impacts of COVID-19 to inform a technical 
briefing note for decision makers. A review of the assumptions GM made in 
terms of the economic circumstances of impacted groups, is necessary as 
the ‘starting positions’ assumed in the policy positions for each of the 
measures will have changes as a result of COVID-19.  As a result of COVID-
19 it is anticipated that the impact the CAZ will have changed and GM needs 
to identify, where possible, what this change will bring and report this in the 
final proposals for decision makers to consider. 

As a result of the pandemic, vehicle owners may not be starting from the 
same position as had been previously assumed in terms of their fleets and 
their ability to upgrade as a result of the GM CAP. They may therefore need 
more or different support to help them upgrade or to mitigate the impacts of 
the CAZ. 

The timescales for GM CAP are determined by a Ministerial Direction. GM 
needs to launch a Clean Air Zone in 2022 to meet the requirement of the 
direction to secure compliance with NO2 standards in the shortest possible 
time and by 2024 at the latest. As has been made clear in other reports, 
Ministers have written to Greater Manchester confirming that they expect 
measures to continue to be developed and the consultation to be 
undertaken as required by the Ministerial Direction. 

GM must make a final plan no later than Summer 2021 in order to be in a 
position to launch a Clean Air Zone in 2022. The GM Authorities report on 
the Final Clean Air Plan will include the consultation results, the assessment 
of COVID-19 and a final recommended package of measures to ensure the 
achievement of NO2 compliance in the shortest possible time and by 2024 at 
the latest as required by the Ministerial Direction. The report will be 
supported by the following documents: 

 AECOM Consultation Report9 

 GM Authorities Response to the Consultation 

                                                           
9 AECOM – the independent agency who are managing and analysing the consultation responses 

Page 10



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
6.6 
 
 
 
 

 
6.7 
 
 

 
6.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.9 
 
 
 
 
 
6.10 
 
 
 
 
 

6.11 
 
 
 
 
6.12 
 
 

 Impacts of COVID-19 Report 

 GM CAP Equality Impact Assessment following Consultation 

 GM CAP Policy following Consultation 

 Modelling report of final CAP package 

 Economic implications of CAP 

 
That plan will need to determine: 

 the boundary discounts, exemptions and daily charges of a Clean Air 
Zone, and 

 The amount of supporting funds. 

 
In determining the final funding amounts this will in turn start the process of 
distributing the secured funding to those eligible, as per the ‘final plan’ GM 
CAP policy. 

Supporting funds are critical to help businesses prepare for the launch of a 
Clean Air Zone. Elsewhere in this report it is described that when Leeds City 
Council opened their clean vehicle funds it enabled impacted groups to 
access funding and upgrade their vehicle prior to the scheme’s launch. This 
is reported to have led to a dramatic shift to cleaner vehicles. This along with 
a smaller geographic area, and pandemic traffic levels led to a joint review 
with JAQU which found that air pollution in Leeds was significantly below 
legal limits and that it was likely to be maintained, meaning legal limits will 
be met without implementing a Clean Air Zone. It should be noted that at the 
outset air pollution levels were not as poor in Leeds as in GM, and 
compliance was expected to occur naturally earlier than the opening date for 
the GM CAP. 

GM recognises the absolute importance of understanding what impacts the 
pandemic has had on air quality and businesses, ensuring any impacts are 
reflected in the final plans and the ongoing discussions with government. 
That is why the consultations asked for business feedback on this crucial 
issue, encouraging as wide a range of views as possible. 

It is a very uncertain time and getting the right level of funding to support 
local businesses and organisations before the Clean Air Zone is introduced 
is key. Following the conclusion of the consultation, both GM CAP and MLS 
consultation responses will be analysed and reported on by AECOM an 
independent research agency.  

GM will fully consider all the information and evidence gathered during the 
consultation, so that it can understand the consequences COVID-19 has 
had on vehicle owners and trades which will be directly affected by the GM 
CAP and MLS.  

As set out in previous reports the Impacts of COVID report will include 
consideration of:  

Page 11



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.13 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
6.14 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
7. 
 
7.1 
 

7.11 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
7.2 
 
7.2.1 
 
 

 whether the assumptions underpinning the GM CAP are still valid; 

 whether GM will remain in exceedance of legal nitrogen dioxide limits 
under the proposals as they currently stand; 

 the measures proposed in the package for consultation; and 

 whether the proposed support package will be sufficient. 

Given the timescales the GM Authorities are working to they need to be 
clear as to what assessments can be made, ahead of the determination of a 
final plan. The final plan report will: 

 set out the revised assumptions underpinning the GM CAP and the 
uncertainty surrounding these; 

 set out the revised policy positions for each of the measures including 
amount of supporting funds for eligible applicants; and 

 include an assessment of the possible impact of COVID-19 on when 
GM will secure compliance. 

 set out what level of funding GM will be seeking from government to 
support the individuals and smallest businesses who will be most 
economically vulnerable to the GM CAZ and where, given the impact 
of COVID-19 the previous amounts of grant funding to help upgrade 
to a compliant vehicle may not be enough to adequately mitigate the 
potential adverse economic impacts of both. 

On the 4th January the Prime Minister announced a national lockdown and 
instructed people to stay at home to control the virus, protect the NHS and 
save lives. At the time of writing this report (6th January 2021) the 
implications for ‘lockdown 3’ on the GM Clean Air Plan are unknown. As the 
pandemic is unpredictable and dynamic, contemporary reporting on the 
progress on the development of the final plan will be provided by the Green 
City Region Lead, as required, at GMCA meetings. 

Clean Air – Progress Since Last Update 
 
Hackney Carriages & LGV fleet support 
 
As reported in July, Government has accepted the need for vehicle 
replacement funds for Hackney Carriages, and Light Goods Vehicles, but 
requested further development of shared evidence on the needs within this 
complex sector before responding to the specific asks of is £80m for 
LGVs/vans and for Hackney Carriages it is £10.4m, plus delivery costs. GM 
has submitted this information, however at the time of writing the 
Government has not made an offer of funding. GM Authorities consulted on 
the financial proposal at the date of consultation. 
 
Try Before You Buy & EV Taxi Infrastructure 
 
GM is proposing a ‘Try Before You Buy’ Electric vehicle initiative for GM-
licensed Hackney Carriage drivers to address uncertainties such as 
operating costs, range anxiety and availability of charging infrastructure. 

Page 12



 
 
 
 
 
7.2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.3 
 
7.3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.4 
 
7.4.1 
 
 
 
 
7.4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
7.4.4 
 
 
 
 
 

This is similar to a scheme run by Nottingham City Council which resulted in 
a 40% conversion rate (40% of those who used the scheme then switched to 
an electric hackney).  The funding ask for this is £1.9m, however 
Government has not yet made an offer of funding for this initiative. 
 

GM is also proposing a network of 40 hackney/PHV-only rapid electric 
vehicle charging points to be funded via the GM CAP. These will be installed 
in suitable, available and sustainable locations, with a focus on re-purposing 
public sector assets and will be supported by the development of an EV Taxi 
(HC and PHV) charging membership scheme. The funding ask for this is 
£6.5m, and Government has not yet made an offer of funding for this 
initiative. 
 
Clean Bus Fund – Replacement 
 
It was assumed at OBC stage that an estimated 350 buses could not be 
retrofitted and that it would be for the market to find a solution. GM is looking 
to secure funding from the £5 billion of new funding for buses and cycling 
announced in the March budget. Alongside this, GM is proposing to 
Government that it requires circa £9m of funding plus delivery costs to 
support the replacement of non-compliant vehicles operating on registered 
bus services in GM that cannot be retrofitted; in this respect the Government 
have not made an offer of funding. 
 
Strategic Road Network managed by Highways England 
 
The 10 GM Authorities continue to ask the Government to direct Highways 
England to tackle NO2 exceedances on the Strategic Road Network (SRN) 
in the same way GM Authorities are having to take action on the local road 
network.  

 
In particular Tameside MBC has highlighted to Ministers that the 
inconsistency in approach is leaving many residents unprotected, 
particularly, around the A628/A57, a strategically important trans-Pennine 
route that passes through the villages of Hollingworth and Mottram as a 
single carriageway. This route, managed by Highways England, will be left 
with NO2 exceedances that are not being addressed, despite the area being 
declared as part of GM’s Air Quality Management Area. 
 
As previously reported on 21 July 2020 a meeting was held between Rachel 
MacLean – Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Transport, Councillor 
Brenda Warrington, Councillor Andrew Western, Jonathan Reynolds MP and 
Robert Largan MP. Minister MacLean listened to the concerns of GM 
politicians and committed to reviewing the options to deal with this issue.  
 
On 25 August 2020, Tameside MBC were notified that Government 
ministers have agreed to consider extending Greater Manchester’s Clean Air 
Zone (CAZ) charges to the sections of the A628/A57 which form part of the 
Strategic Road Network, within the proposed CAZ boundary. The extension 
of any charges to the A628/A57 will be subject to a full assessment of the 
potential impacts, to be led by Highways England. This will cover air quality 

Page 13



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.5 
 
7.5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.5.2 
 
7.5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.6 
 
7.6.1 
 
 
7.6.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.6.3 
 
 

impacts on other roads, safety impacts, carbon impacts, as well as wider 
issues for Highways England, such as operational and network issues. 
Following the assessment ministers will take the final decision on whether or 
not charging should be implemented on the A628/A57. Tameside officers 
are involved in the work to ensure that it comes to a collective conclusion 
about the outcomes of the assessment, which is expected to be completed 
by early 2021. An update on progress can be found at Appendix 1. 
 
Clean Bus Fund – Retrofit 
 
As reported in July the Government awarded £14.7m as an initial tranche of 
funding to retrofit buses running services in GM that have older engines 
which are not compliant with the GM CAZ emission standards. Government 
also confirmed the funding award for Bus Retrofit funding should be 
distributed as a continuation of the Clean Bus Technology Fund. As this 
funding mechanism is distinct from the wider delivery of the GM CAP, no 
consultation feedback was requested on this aspect of the policy.  
 
The distribution of Bus Retrofit funding commenced in December 2020.  
 
This fund offers operators of locally registered bus services with up to £16k 
of funding per vehicle towards the retrofit of non-compliant buses before the 
launch of the Clean Air Zone in Spring 2022. The funding is available for 
vehicles, including minibuses and coaches, operating on a registered bus 
service within Greater Manchester. This includes cross-boundary services 
operating within the GM CAZ boundary. 
 
Other Cities’ Clean Air Plans 
 
Since the last report to members in July there have been significant updates 
on the progress of other cities plans to implement Clean Air Zones.  
 
Leeds City Council – statutorily consulted on their proposals 29 June – 12 
August 2018 and in 2019 announced their Clean Air Zone would launch in 
2020. They commenced distributing clean air funding in 2019 to encourage 
vehicle upgrade. The government’s joint air quality unit (JAQU) recently 
undertook a joint review with Leeds to analyse the impact of COVID-19 on 
air quality and to understand if a Clean Air Zone remains necessary, or 
whether NO2 compliance by the legally required timeframe can be achieved 
and maintained in other ways. Due to the dramatic shift to cleaner vehicles 
already delivered by the funding and by businesses preparing for the 
imminent launch of the CAZ, the review found that air pollution in Leeds is 
significantly below legal limits and that is likely to be maintained, even if 
traffic were to return to ‘normal’ levels or slightly higher. However, as set out 
in paragraph 3.6 this is not the case for the Greater Manchester Authorities 
where they have been instructed by government to proceed with the 
proposals.  
 
Bath & North East Somerset announced on 8 October that their clean air 
zone, a city centre CAZ C, would take effect on 15 March 2021. This was 
initially due to launch in November 2020 but was delayed by the COVID-19 

Page 14



 
 
 
 
7.6.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.6.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.6.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8. 
 
8.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.2 
 
 
 
 
 

pandemic. The Council has opened access to its clean vehicle upgrade 
funds now, prior to the scheme opening, to enable impacted groups to 
upgrade their vehicles.  
 
Birmingham announced on 8 October that their clean air zone will launch on 
1 June 2021. The scheme, which is a city centre CAZ D, was initially due to 
launch in January 2020 but was delayed by issues with the Government’s 
vehicle checker and then by impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Birmingham have opened up their clean vehicle funds to enable impacted 
groups to access funding and upgrade their vehicle prior to the scheme’s 
launch. 
 
Bristol consulted on their clean air zone proposals between 8 October and 
13 December 2020. The Council consulted on a number of options while 
carrying out modelling work to look at the impact of green recovery 
measures. Option 1 would be a Clean Air Zone covering a small area of 
central Bristol where older, more polluting commercial vehicles and polluting 
private cars would pay to drive in the zone, referred to as ‘small CAZ D’. 
Option 2 would be Option 1 plus a larger charging zone where older, more 
polluting commercial vehicles, but not private cars, would be charged to 
drive in the zone, referred to as ‘medium CAZ C’. The full business case 
process is scheduled be submitted in early 2021. 
 
As far as GM is aware, all other authorities that received a ministerial 
direction to implement a clean air zone are proceeding with the development 
of their plans. Ministers have written to other authorities in similar terms to 
Greater Manchester confirming that they expect measures to continue to be 
developed where necessary. Some cities, such as Newcastle/Gateshead, 
are revising their initial proposals for a clean air zone. London’s Ultra Low 
Emissions Zone (ULEZ), although not required under the same legislation as 
local authority clean air plans which are part of the clean air zone framework 
but has similar principles of charging the most polluting vehicles, is to be 
extended to the North and South Circular roads of inner London on 25 
October 2021. 
 
Clean Air Zone Preparatory Arrangements 
 
In July 2019 on the basis of evidence provided as at that date, a Ministerial 
letter set out that the GM plan appeared to be on track to deliver compliance 
in the shortest possible time and that the Greater Manchester authorities 
should continue to proceed towards developing the implementation and 
contract arrangements of a charging Clean Air Zone in Greater Manchester. 
Government provided an initial tranche of £36m of funding to take this 
forward. 
 
The ten Greater Manchester Local Authorities have been directed by 
Government to introduce a category C Clean Air Zone across the region, 
therefore the key elements of the Clean Air Zone including the intended 
boundary and times of operation, proposed discounts/exemptions, vehicles 
affected and daily charges, have been subject to a statutory consultation. 
The supporting measures, the detail of proposals of the funds and vehicle 

Page 15



 
 
 
 
 
 
8.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.4 
 
 
 
 
8.5 
 
 
 
 
 
8.6 
 
 
 
 
 
8.7 
 
 
 
 
 
9. 
 
9.1 
 
9.1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.1.3 

finance were also set out at consultation to enable consultees to respond 
fully to the GM CAP proposals. Given that the 10 Local Authorities are 
subject to the direction to implement the CAZ, the preparatory procurement 
arrangements have commenced without a risk of the consultation outcome 
being pre-judged. 
 
The ten Greater Manchester Local Authorities are undertaking the 
preparatory implementation and contract arrangements required to deliver 
the CAZ and other GM CAP measures. Preparatory work is required in order 
to maintain delivery momentum in line with the funding arrangements agreed 
with JAQU, for example in relation to automatic number plate recognition 
(ANPR) cameras, back office systems and service providers.  
 
A description of the main procurements is set out in Appendix 2. This 
includes the date when formal contract awards are expected to be made to 
enable GM to deliver a charging Clean Air Zone in Spring 2022 to meet the 
timescales required by the Ministerial Direction.  
 
TfGM is running the procurement exercise with potential suppliers to final 
evaluation and to provide a report to allow the authorities (as set out in 
section 9 a joint committee will be set up to delegate to TfGM) to make a 
decision to award to the successful supplier(s) on receipt of [confirmation of] 
funding from JAQU. 
 
The 25 August 2020 report considered the proposed Governance 
arrangements for the CAZ and it was subsequently agreed by all 10 Greater 
Manchester Local Authorities and GMCA that TfGM will act as an ‘operating 
body’ responsible for day to day operation of the CAZ and the 
implementation of other GM CAP measures. 
 
The 25 August 2020 report also set out that a future report would detail the 
formal governance mechanisms that will underpin the delivery of a GM 
Clean Air Zone (CAZ) and the supporting measures, including the powers 
that will need to be delegated to the Operating Body. Section 10 of this 
report considers the joint working arrangements that will be required. 
 
Clean Air Consultation 
 
Consultation Purpose and Delivery Arrangements 
 
The ten Greater Manchester authorities conducted an eight-week 
consultation from 8 October to 3 December 2020 that adhered to the 
government’s COVID-19 guidance around social distancing. The purpose of 
the consultation was to seek views from residents, visitors, stakeholders and 
businesses on the proposals to achieve compliant NO2 levels in Greater 
Manchester. The Greater Manchester Minimum Licensing Standards 
consultation ran in parallel to ensure that those impacted and/or interested in 
the proposals could have a complete view of the proposed changes to 
vehicles and the financial support available. 
 
The consultation was not seeking a decision on whether to introduce a 

Page 16



 
 
 
 
9.1.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.1.5 
 
 
 
9.2 
 
9.2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
9.2.3 
 
 
 
9.3 
 
9.3.1 
 
 
9.3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
9.3.3 
 
 
 
 

scheme as that has been directed by the Secretary of State; it set out a 
position for consultation on the daily charge, discounts and exemptions of a 
Category C GM Clean Air Zone, and the proposals for the supporting funds. 
 
TfGM, on behalf of the ten Greater Manchester authorities, conducted the 
consultation, under the CleanAirGM branding. AECOM – an independent 
opinion research agency – was appointed to receive, manage, process and 
analyse the consultation responses on TfGM’s behalf; to undertake 
qualitative research on the proposals (a research method of facilitated 
sessions to seek feedback from representative groups); and produce a full 
report on the findings from the consultation. 
 
The consultation was also supported by engagement activity to ensure all 
groups could engage with the consultation materials and respond in a 
meaningful way. 
 
Consultation Documentation 
 
The consultation materials were published on www.CleanAirGM.com on 8 
October 2020. This included the consultation document, the questionnaire, 
technical reports, the policy for consultation and supporting public facing 
materials such as leaflets and fact sheets. An animation outlining the 
proposals with subtitles and British Sign Language interpretation was also 
published. 
 
Hard copies of the consultation document and questionnaire were sent to 
each local authority for distribution across the boroughs as deemed 
appropriate. These materials were also sent to every Travelshop operated 
by TfGM across Greater Manchester. Hard copies of other materials were 
available on request, as well as alternative formats. 
 
In addition to the online and hard copy questionnaire, people could respond 
via a dedicated phoneline, email or post. A language line facility was also in 
place for non-English speakers. 
 
Consultation Methodology and Questions 
 
The consultation questions were embedded throughout the consultation 
document and in the questionnaire. 
 
The aim was to seek views on the detail of the proposed boundary (already 
set by the direction at GM-wide), the proposed operation, the proposed 
charges and discounts / exemptions, the supporting measures (funds, 
vehicle finance) and the impacts of Covid-19 on the ability of businesses / 
organisations to respond to the proposals. 
 
During the consultation planning stage, an equality impact assessment was 
undertaken to ensure that the proposed consultation methodology did not 
exclude any groups with protected characteristics and that any issues 
arising due to the current situation in relation to COVID-19 were 
appropriately mitigated. 

Page 17

http://www.cleanairgm.com/
https://images.ctfassets.net/tlpgbvy1k6h2/38mpTrGAw7qtuneFVln93c/c919fd3e08d54ec1f17e114a3b014093/20-0565_CAP_Consultation_Summary_WEB.pdf


 
9.4 
 
9.4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
9.4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
9.5 
 
9.5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
9.5.2 
 
 
 
9.5.3 
 
 
9.6 
 
9.6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.6.2 
 

 
Engagement and Awareness Raising Activity 
 
GM and national-level engagement activity was coordinated and delivered 
by TfGM under the CleanAirGM branding. Each of the 10 GM authorities 
also implemented their own delivery plans for consultation with their 
residents and businesses. Full details of the GM level engagement delivered 
throughout the consultation can be found in Appendix 3. 
 
The GM authorities used both online and offline channels to promote the 
consultation, (including social media, digital advertising, out of home 
advertising, media and PR, working with stakeholders and other routes). As 
traditional consultation-style events and drop-in sessions could not be 
hosted due to the restrictions on large gatherings, GM used online events, 
webinars, and social media in order to answer questions and engage. 
Activity undertaken at a local level will be included in local authority reports, 
as appropriate. 
 
TfGM also developed a virtual exhibition space to provide an alternative way 
to engage with the consultation materials and speak to members of the 
CleanAirGM team, in the absence of face-to-face engagement. The platform 
had an online chat facility which operated for several hours a day at least six 
days a week. 
 
Qualitative Research 
 
Alongside the consultation and engagement activity, qualitative research 
was also undertaken by AECOM to explore the impact of the proposals and 
the impact of Covid-19 on the most impacted groups. This included small 
and micro businesses, the taxi and private hire trade, the freight and 
logistics sector, public transport users and those with respiratory conditions. 
 
The sessions took place as either focus groups or depth-interviews on 
Microsoft Teams and were facilitated by an independent moderator. Full 
details of the activity can be found in Appendix 4. 
 
This research was conducted whilst the consultation was ongoing and will 
be reported within the consultation findings report. 
 
Final Response Numbers and Other Submissions 
 
A total of 4765 responses were received during the consultation period: 

 3954 via online questionnaire 

 767 via email 

 43 paper questionnaires 

 1 telephone response 
 

The full AECOM Consultation Report will be published with the final plan.  
 

Page 18



9.6.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10. 
 
10.1 
 
 
 
 
 
10.2 
 
 
 
 
10.3 
 
 
 
 
 
10.4 
 
 
 
10.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.6 
 
 

Late responses (i.e. submitted after the deadline of 3 December 2020 at 
23:59) are not counted in the final numbers of responses but will be 
summarised in a separate chapter of the report that will be produced by 
AECOM (the independent agency who are managing and analysing the 
responses to the consultation). Any late responses to the Clean Air 
consultation will be considered in the local authority reports on the outputs of 
the consultations to the extent that they are deemed to be material. 
 
Clean Air Governance 
 
The 25 August 2020 report considered the proposed Governance 
arrangements for the GM CAZ and it was subsequently agreed by all 10 GM 
Authorities and GMCA that TfGM will act as an ‘operating body’ responsible 
for day-to-day operation of the CAZ and the implementation of other GM 
CAP measures. 
 
The 25 August 2020 report also set out that a future report would detail the 
formal governance mechanisms that will underpin the delivery of a GM 
Clean Air Zone (CAZ) and the supporting measures, including the powers 
that will need to be delegated to the Operating Body. 
 
This section of the report considers the formal governance mechanisms and 
joint working arrangements that will be required to ensure that the 10 GM 
Authorities implement a charging Clean Air Zone in Spring 2022 so as to 
ensure the achievement of NO2 compliance in the shortest possible time 
and by 2024 at the latest as required by the Ministerial Direction. 
 
The formal governance mechanisms include the political oversight 
arrangements (to include to the oversight of the CAZ including monitoring 
and policy setting) and operating arrangements.  
 
As there are several key charging authority functions that can only be 
discharged by the charging authorities (and as the GMCA is not a charging 
authority), the approach that GM will take will be to establish: 
 

 a Joint Committee of charging authorities to enable decisions to be 
taken that are required to be taken jointly by the Constituent 
Authorities’ as charging authorities in relation to the Greater 
Manchester Clean Air Zone; and 

 

 a Joint Committee of the charging authorities and the GMCA to 
enable the joint discharge of the GMCA’s and Constituent Authorities’ 
functions under sections 82 to 84 of the Environment Act 1995 (Air 
Quality) and in relation to the Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan 
(excluding such decisions that must be taken by the charging 
authorities jointly under Part 3 of, and Schedule 12 to, the Transport 
Act 2000 and regulations made thereunder). 

 
These formal governance arrangements need to be in place before the GM 
Authorities make a decision to award the contracts necessary, as set out in 
Appendix 2, to deliver a charging Clean Air Zone and other measures to 

Page 19



 
 
 
 
 
 
10.7 
 
 
 
10.8 
 
 
 
 
 
10.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
11. 
 
11.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
11.2 

successful supplier(s). The terms of reference including the functions 
requiring delegation to the joint committees are set out in Appendix 6. The 
10 GM local authorities are being asked to agree the establishment of the 
committees, nominate their committee members and terms of reference for 
the joint committees. 

 
The proposed governance arrangements will also enable TfGM to discharge 
relevant local authority functions before decisions to award contracts to 
successful suppliers. 
 
A description of the main procurements is set out in Appendix 2. This table 
includes the date when formal contract awards are expected to be made to 
enable GM to deliver a charging Clean Air Zone in Spring 2022 as required 
by the Ministerial Direction. They are imminent with the first being in March 
2021 through the Summer of 2021. 
 
Furthermore it is prudent and conventional on such a complex, multi-
authority project, for there to be an agreement put in place between the 10 
local authorities and GMCA/TfGM to clarify the rights, responsibilities and 
obligations of the authorities in relation to [those contracts and] the collective 
GM CAP, and setting out how all parties will work together to deliver the GM 
CAP up to and beyond the determination of the final plan. 
 
The GM authorities are being asked to provide sufficient delegations for 
each Authority to be a party to the collaboration agreement between the 10 
local authorities and GMCA/TfGM to clarify amongst other matters the rights, 
responsibilities and obligations of the authorities in relation to those 
contracts set out in Appendix 2. 
 
State Aid 
 
The consultation materials were published on www.CleanAirGM.com on 8 
October 2020 in the Policy for Consultation, GM outlined that the proposed 
measures would be subject to state aid restrictions. Subsequently there are 
new rules and arrangements are in place. The EU-UK Trade and Co-
operation Agreement (TCA) sets out the new obligations for Subsidy Control 
which replaces the State aid regime in the UK. The new rules must be 
considered in respect of all grants awarded from 1st January 2021.  This will 
be taken into consideration in the development of the final plan. 
 
Minimum Licensing Standards and the GM Clean Air Plan 
 
Taxi/PHV services are a significant part of GM’s transport offer. In 2018, 
GM’s ten local authorities agreed to collectively develop, approve and 
implement a common set of minimum licensing standards (MLS) for Taxi 
and Private Hire services that cover the whole of GM. At that time, the 
primary driver for this work was to improve public safety, but vehicle age and 
emission standards in the context of the Clean Air agenda are now also a 
major consideration.  
 
As licensing is a local authority regulatory function, the work to devise the 

Page 20

http://www.cleanairgm.com/
https://images.ctfassets.net/tlpgbvy1k6h2/3QO06YSFhtsVmBysx5wXgV/15086c04fec14152f3d6d6f87e1cda1a/Clean_Air_Plan_Policy_for_Consultation.pdf


 
 
 
 
11.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
11.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
11.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Standards has been undertaken by the GM Licensing Managers Network, 
with TfGM supporting the co-ordination of this work, and alignment with 
other relevant GM policies, at a GM level. 
 
There are four areas of focus for the MLS:  

 Drivers: Criminal Records Checks; Medical Examinations; Local 
knowledge test; English language; Driver training; Driving Proficiency; 
Dress Code.  

 

 Vehicles: Vehicle emissions (diesel Euro 6 and above, petrol Euro 4 
and above with an ambition for a zero-emission capable fleet); 
Vehicle ages (under 5 years at first licensing, no older than 10 years); 
Vehicle colour (Black for Taxi/Hackney, white for Private Hire 
Vehicles);  

 

 Vehicle livery (common GM design with Council logo incorporated); 
Accessibility (all Taxis to be wheelchair accessible); Vehicle testing; 
CCTV; Executive Hire; Vehicle design and licensing requirements.  

 

 Operators: Private Hire Operators/staff will require basic criminal 
record check; more stringent requirements in relation to booking 
records; Operators to take more responsibility for the behaviour of 
their drivers.   

 

 Local Authorities: Applications may be submitted up to 8 weeks in 
advance of license expiry; once determined, license issued within 5 
working days; Agree to develop common enforcement approach and 
a framework to which licensing fees are set; Councillors to receive 
training before they hear applications.  

 
Given the decarbonisation challenge, sectors such as transport need to take 
very significant action now to reduce carbon emissions. For taxis and PHVs 
to contribute will require them to switch to zero-emission capable (ZEC) 
vehicles.  To invest in ZEC vehicles, taxi proprietors also require long term 
confidence in the local policy landscape, including future interventions and 
supporting infrastructure. 
The trade has asked for certainty, funding, and long lead in times for these 
changes. This is extremely challenging within the current and emerging 
policy environment. Officers have developed policy proposals that can meet 
these needs as far as possible, which is why parallel consultations have 
been undertaken for MLS and GM CAP, and that charging, funding, and 
licensing policy positions are coherent and joined-up. 
 
Ultimately the collaborative approach that the MLS represents will help 
achieve the vision of a strong, professional and healthy taxi and private hire 
sector providing safe and high-quality services to residents and visitors 
across the whole of Greater Manchester. This vision sees taxis and Private 
Hire as a crucial part of the overall transport mix that can consistently deliver 
safe and high-quality services for the public.  The proposed MLS will help 
deliver improved safety, customer focus, higher environmental standards 
and accessibility.  

Page 21



 
11.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12. 
 
12.1 
 
12.1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12.1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12.1.3 
 
 

 
12.2 
 
12.2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12.2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
12.2.3 
 
 
 

 
In addition, GM understands that, like many parts of the economy, and in 
particular the transport sector, the taxi and private hire trade have been 
impacted by COVID-19, lockdown and the effects of social distancing 
policies. Therefore, the MLS consultation, which is a matter for the 10 district 
councils, included questions designed to elicit a fuller and more informed 
understanding of the wider effects of COVID-19 on the economic health and 

sustainability of the taxi and private hire trades.  
 
MLS Consultation 
 
Consultation Purpose and Delivery Arrangements 
 
The ten Greater Manchester authorities conducted an eight-week 
consultation from 8 October to 3 December that adhered to the government 
COVID-19 guidance around social distancing. The purpose of the 
consultation was to inform the trade and the public of the proposals and 
engage impacted groups (the trade and the main service users) to build 
understanding and awareness to inform the final standards. 
 
TfGM, on behalf of the ten Greater Manchester licensing authorities, 
conducted the consultation, under the GM Taxis Standards brand. AECOM 
– an independent opinion research agency – was appointed to receive, 
manage, process and analyse the consultation responses on TfGM’s behalf; 
to undertake qualitative research on the proposals (a research method of 
facilitated sessions to seek feedback from representative groups); and 
produce a full report on the findings from the consultation. 
 
The consultation was also supported by engagement activity with the trade 
to help ensure they could engage with the consultation materials and 
respond in a meaningful way. 
 
Consultation Documentation 
 
The consultation documentation was published on 
www.gmtaxistandards.com on 8 October 2020. This included the 
consultation document, the questionnaire and supporting public facing 
materials such as leaflets and factsheets. An animation outlining the 
proposals with subtitles and British Sign Language interpretation was also 
developed. 
 
Hard copies of the consultation document and questionnaire were sent to 
each local authority for distribution across the boroughs as deemed 
appropriate. These materials were also sent to every Travelshop operated 
by TfGM across Greater Manchester. Hard copies of other materials were 
available on request, as well as alternative formats. 
 
In addition to the online and hard copy questionnaire, people could respond 
via a dedicated phoneline, email or post. A language line facility was also in 
place to support non-English speakers. 
 

Page 22

http://www.gmtaxistandards.com/
https://www.gmtaxistandards.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/GM-Minimum-Licensing-Standards-consultation-document-online-1.pdf


12.3 
 
12.3.1 
 
 
12.3.2 
 
 
 
 
12.3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
12.4 
 
12.4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
12.4.2 
 
 
 
12.4.3 
 
 
 
 
12.4.4 
 
 
12.5 
 
12.5.1 
 
 
 
12.5.2 
 
 
 
12.5.3 
 
 
12.6 
 

Consultation Methodology and Questions 
 
The consultation questions were embedded throughout the consultation 
document and in the questionnaire. 
 
The aim was to seek views on the proposed driver standards, vehicle 
standards, operator standards, local authority standards, local authorities, 
the proposed implementation timetable and the impacts of COVID-19 on the 
ability of businesses / organisations to respond to the proposals. 
 
During the consultation planning stage, an equality impact assessment was 
undertaken to ensure that the proposed consultation methodology did not 
exclude any groups with protected characteristics and that any issues 
arising due to the current situation in relation to COVID-19 were 
appropriately mitigated. 
 
Engagement and Awareness Raising Activity 
 
GM engagement activity was coordinated and delivered by TfGM under the 
GM Taxi Standards brand. Each of the 10 GM communications and 
engagement teams and licensing teams supported this delivery plan, with 
their own local plans.  Full details of the GM level engagement delivered 
throughout the consultation can be found in Appendix 3. 
 
The GM authorities used both online and offline channels to promote the 
consultation, (including social media, digital advertising, out of home 
advertising, media and PR, working with stakeholders and other routes).  
 
As traditional consultation-style events and drop-in sessions could not be 
hosted due to the restrictions on large gatherings, GM used online events, 
webinars, social media and promoted a phone number, in order engage with 
the public and impacted groups. 
 
TfGM also developed a virtual exhibition space to provide an alternative way 
to engage with the consultation materials. 
 
Qualitative Research 
 
Alongside the consultation and engagement activity, qualitative research 
was also undertaken by AECOM to explore the impact of the proposals and 
the impact of COVID-19 on the trade and key users. 
 
The sessions took place as either focus groups or interviews on Microsoft 
Teams and were facilitated by a moderator. Full details of the sessions ran 
can be found in Appendix 5. 
 
This research was conducted whilst the consultation was ongoing and will 
be reported within the consultation findings report. 
 
Final Response Numbers and Other Submissions 
 

Page 23



12.6.1 
 
 
 
 

 
12.6.2 
 
12.6.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
13. 
 
13.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
13.2 
 
 
 
 
13.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A total of 1682 responses were received during the consultation period: 

 1552 via online questionnaire 

 46 via email  

 84 paper questionnaires 
 

The full AECOM Consultation Report will be published with the final plan. 
 

Late responses (i.e. submitted after the deadline of 3 December 2020 at 
23:59) are not counted in the final numbers of responses but will 
summarised in a separate chapter of the report that will be produced by 
AECOM (the independent agency who are managing and analysing the 
responses to the consultation). Any late responses to the MLS consultation 
will be considered in the local authority reports on the outputs of the 
consultations to the extent that they are deemed to be material. 
 
Next Steps 
 
GM needs time to: 

 Review all the information gathered through the GM CAP and MLS 
consultations. 

 Fully consider all the information and evidence gathered, so that it 
can understand the consequences of COVID-19 has had on vehicle 
owners and trades affected by the GM CAP and MLS. 

 Undertake the subsequent equalities, air quality and emissions 
impact assessments, this work will be vital to inform future decisions 
on each aspect of the final plan.  

 
It is proposed that for the GM CAP a final plan will be brought forward for 
decision makers as soon as is reasonably practicable and no later than 
summer 2021, and at this time the outputs of the MLS consultation will also 
be reported.   

 
Officers will:  

 Continue dialogue with JAQU to secure a clear response from 
government on GM’s outstanding clean air funding asks; 

 Continue to undertake the preparatory implementation and contract 
arrangements that need to be undertaken to deliver the CAZ and 
other GM CAP measures; 

 Continue work to understand the possible impacts of COVID-19 on 
the GM CAP and MLS;  

 Continue to assess the findings of the consultation and develop a 
final Clean Air Plan (as set out at paragraph 5.5) for consideration by 
the 10 Greater Manchester Local Authorities; and 

 Consider the proposed approach to the consideration and adoption of 
MLS by the 10 Greater Manchester Local Authorities. 

 

Page 24



 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
14.1 
 
 
 
14.2 

Financial Consequences – Revenue: Initial Financial Case set out in Clean Air 
Plan OBC (March 2019), with all development and delivery costs to be covered by 
central Government  

 
Financial Consequences – Capital: Initial Financial Case set out in Clean Air 
Plan OBC (March 2019), with all development and delivery costs to be covered by 
central Government  
 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
15.1 
 
 
 
15.2 
 
 
 
 
 
15.3 
 
 
15.4 

Equalities Implications: Equality Impact Assessment was completed for 
consultation and can be found at here. This will be updated and published 
with the final plan.  
 
Climate Change Impact Assessment and Mitigation Measures: The GM CAP 
is a place based solution to tackle roadside NO2 and proposes measures to 
secure funding for Electric Vehicle charging infrastructure, as well as 
ensuring that a mechanism is put in place for the large scale rollout of 
replacement electric buses, which will have a positive impact on carbon. 
 
Risk Management: Initial risk register set out in Clean Air Plan OBC (March 
2019)  
 
Legal Considerations: legal considerations are set out in the body of the 
report. 
 
Number of appendices to the report: 6 (six) 
 

Consultation 

 
16. Detailed in Sections 9 and 12 inclusive. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

17.  31 July 2020, report to GMCA: Clean 
Air Plan Update 

 29 May 2020, report to GMCA: Clean 
Air Plan Update 

 31 January 2020, report to GMCA: 
Clean Air Plan Update 

 26 Jul 2019, report to GMCA: Clean 
Air Plan Update  

 1 March 2019, report to GMCA: 
Greater Manchester’s Clean Air Plan 

https://cleanairgm.com/ 
 

Page 25

https://assets.ctfassets.net/tlpgbvy1k6h2/7daPfVax2IwYvfzJD1L6Wq/2e1a358a4c7bae42eec078edb516a1de/Equalities_Impact_Assessment.pdf
https://cleanairgm.com/


– Tackling Nitrogen Dioxide 
Exceedances at the Roadside - 
Outline Business Case  

 11 January 2019, report to 
GMCA/AGMA: Clean Air Update  

 14 December 2018, report to GMCA: 
Clean Air Update  

 30 November 2018, report to GMCA: 
Clean Air Plan Update  

 26 October 2018, report to GMCA: 
GM Clean Air Plan Update on Local 
Air Quality Monitoring  

 15 November 2018, report to HPEOS 
Committee: Clean Air Update  

 16 August 2018, report to HPEOS 
Committee: GM Clean Air Plan 
Update  

 UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen 
dioxide concentrations, Defra and 
DfT, July 2017  

 

 

For Further Information Contact: Nicola Rogers, Tel: 01706 924124, 
nicola.rogers@rochdale.gov.uk 

 

Page 26



Report to Cabinet 
 

 

Date of Meeting 9 February 2021 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Social Care and Ageing 
Well 

Report Author Steven Blezard 
 

Public/Private Document Public  
 

 

Discretionary Fees & Charges 2020/21– Careline Service 2021/22– 
Careline Service 

 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
 
1.3 

Charges for the Careline service were not included within the main 
discretionary fees and charges report, as Careline is self-financing and being 
operated on a trading account basis.  Therefore the service does not require 
any funding from the Council and needs to set its fees in line with its 
forecasted costs, rather than in line with inflation. 
 
Analysis has been completed on the operating costs of the service and it is 
anticipated that the existing charges made to service users will cover all the 
costs for the service during 2021/22. 
 
As the operating costs are covered by existing charges, it is not necessary to 
increase charges made to service user charges. 
 

Recommendation 

 
2.1 Cabinet approves the recommendation not to increase the charges for the 

Careline Service. 
 
2.2 Cabinet note the introduction of a new additional charge for Sim card costs in 

units provided because the service user doesn’t have a landline telephone, 
see section 5.2.   

 
 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3.1 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 

 
Careline is a discretionary service, but one which supports the Prevention 
offer within Adult Care and which national evidence suggests can prevent or 
delay the need for other care and support services. 
 
Careline is a fully chargeable service which is not subsidised by the Council, 
yet provides a much needed and valued local service. 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 
 
 
 

Careline charges to service users need to remain affordable and offer good 
value for money to encourage elderly and vulnerable people who would 
benefit from the service to choose to buy it.  We know from experience that 
the level of charges are a prohibitive factor and when charges have been 
increased in the past, it has led to some service users deciding to terminate 
the service. 
 
There are options for service users to buy Careline type services from the 
private sector, although none of these locally offer the option of a mobile 
responder, which the service we provide does, however, we need to ensure 
that our charges remain competitive. 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet approved the annual review of discretionary fees and charges as 
part of the budget setting process on 29 September 2020, with the exception 
of the Careline Service as detailed above. 
 
 
Alternatives Considered 
 
The alternative is not to operate the service as a self-financing model and 
increase the fees and charges on an annual basis in line with inflation, 
however, this would not sustain the model and ultimately lead to the 
potential need to subsidise the service.   
 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 

The retained fee levels for the Careline service for the 2021/22 financial 
year, are as follows: 
 

Service area Current charge 
(£) 
19/20 

Careline  3.10 per week 

Careline plus  5.10 per week 

Careline (no landline) 4.60 per week 

Careline plus (no landline) 5.60 per week 

 
 
Increasingly, service users don’t always have a telephone landline in place, 
which means that we need to provide a different type of Careline unit which is 
operated by an internal SIM card.  There are monthly costs associated with 
the SIM cards, therefore, there is an additional charge of £1.50 per week 
added to the basic charges for service users buying the Careline service who 
don’t have a telephone landline. 
 
 

Page 28



 
 
 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6.   The Service has reviewed its charges against relevant legislation to ensure 

that all transactions remain compliant with the relevant statutes governing 
Local Authority activities. 
 
 

Consultation 

 
7. No consultation is required as there are no changes proposed to the current 

charges, however, it should be noted that a separate consultation is currently 
ongoing as part of savings proposals, which includes a proposed charge for 
Careline installations in some cases.  This would not affect the 
recommendations in this report and the outcome of that consultation is due 
to be reported to Cabinet on 25 February 2021. 
 
 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. Background papers to this report 
can be obtained from Kathryn 
Andrew 

Number 1 Riverside 
Floor 3 

 

For Further Information Contact: Kathryn Andrew, 4057, 
Kathryn.andrew@rochdale.gov.uk  

 
 

Page 29

mailto:Kathryn.andrew@rochdale.gov.uk


  

Report to Cabinet  

  

 

 

Date of Meeting   9th February 2021  

Portfolio   Cabinet Member for  

Climate Change and  

Sustainability  

Report Author   Richard Chapman  

Public/Private Document   Public  
 

  

  

Rochdale Borough E-Scooter Trial - Permission to Tender and Appoint an 

Operator  

  

  

Executive Summary  

  

1. This report is seeking approval for the Council to conduct a tender process to 

appoint a supplier to provide the scooters, implement and operate a 12 month 

e-Scooter Trial in the Borough.  

  

Recommendation  

  

2. That Cabinet   

  

• Note the Council was one of a number of successful local authorities 

in an application to Government to operate a pilot e-scooter scheme  

  

• Support the implementation of a 12 month e-Scooter Trial to operate 
in the area focussed around Rochdale Railway Station, Rochdale 
Town Centre and other key amenities in the town to be implemented 
by 31st March 2021 and end on 31st March 2022,   

  

• Authorise Officers to commence  a tender process to seek a supplier 
and operator for the e-Scooter trial and to enable this to be 
implemented no later than  31st March 2021, 

 

• Delegate to the Assistant Director (Legal and Governance) to execute 
the necessary legal agreements and contact awards, and 

 
  

Page 30

Agenda Item 7



• If the pilot scheme is deemed to have been successful, support a six 
month extension until 31st September 2022 to enable the Council to 
undertake a further procurement process to award a Borough wide 
long term contract for an e-Scooter scheme to be rolled out on a 
phased basis across the Borough.  

  

Reason for Recommendation  

  

3. The Council submitted an Expression of interest to operate an e-Scooter Trial 

in the Borough to the Department of Transport (DfT) in August 2020. The DfT 

supported that Expression of Interest and asked the Council to develop, seek 

an operator and obtain the required orders to implement a trial. The Council 

has been working with Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM), on the 

details of the trial and the procurement documents and procedure. The DfT 

announced at the start of 2021 that e-Scooter Trials should be in place and 

operating by 31st March 2021. Cabinet approval is required at this stage to 

fulfil those deadlines and implement the trial.  

  

Key Points for Consideration  

 

4. This e-Scooter Hire scheme is to trial a model for shared mobility across the 

Borough focussing initially on Rochdale and provides a sustainable travel 

option to / from employment areas, town centres and local amenities to:- 

 

 widen choice for short journey connectivity to / from transport hubs; 

 ease pressure on public transport services while social distancing 
continues and capacity of services is restricted; 

 offer an alternative to making short journeys by car; 

 provide an alternative travel option in areas where other transport 
services are difficult to access and for commuter journeys outside 
usual public transport operation hours; 

 provide an introduction and “stepping stone” to active travel by 
providing users with greater confidence on the road; 

 as a trial, provide information and evaluation material to guide future 
development of shared mobility schemes in the Borough and across 
Greater Manchester. Explore the integration opportunities with other 
transport modes and understand how to ensure safety for all.  

 
The e-Scooter trial will provide a dockless short-term hire scheme with defined 

geo-fenced parking zones with vehicles cutting out at these locations. When 

ending their journey riders must park their e-Scooter in a designated parking 

zone which will be provided at key locations across the trial area, before their 

journey transaction closes. Journey verification uses a combination of GPS 

tracking and photo identification.  

  

  

Page 31



 

The trial will enable the Council to work with the successful operator to 

understand how e-Scooters interact with pedestrians including people with 

impaired mobility, cyclists and other vehicles as well as operational 

infrastructure and system issues such as fault detection, charging and the 

distribution of e-Scooters. Safety is a primary concern for all bodies involved 

in the trial and will be reflected in the agreement with the successful operator.  

  

This trial will incorporate lessons learned from previous dockless 

micromobility schemes. E-Scooter users will face similar challenges to cyclists 

when using roads with vehicles limited to a maximum speed of 15.5 mph 

(similar speeds to that of the average occasional cyclist). The successful 

operator will be expected to promote the wearing of cycling helmets when 

using vehicles and provide clear and comprehensive safety information via 

their mobile application. Users, who must hold a provisional or full driving 

licence, will be required to go through this information before being permitted 

to use an e-Scooter. Safety Information reminders will also be displayed to 

users at the start of each journey.  

  

A social media public awareness campaign will explain how e-Scooters 

should be used safely and what constitutes illegal use including restrictions 

on the use of privately owned e-Scooters in public spaces. Pedestrians, 

particularly those with restricted mobility or impaired vision will be considered 

at risk from irresponsible use of e-Scooters. The trial will be required to impose 

no-go and low-speed zones enabled by geo-fencing and include areas where 

there are high levels of footfall, near busy pedestrian crossings and other 

areas where e-Scooter use is deemed unsafe eg major routes without 

unsegregated pedestrian / cycling facilities, public squares and buildings.  

  

The RNIB’s policy notes and the Parliamentary Advisory Committee on 

Transport Safety will be applied to inform parking and operational locations 

particularly where there is no cycleway segregation. E-Scooters will be fitted 

with high-visibility front and rear lighting and a user operated audible warning. 

 

Shortlisted operators will be invited to an online supplier event later this month 

where they will be expected to provide more detail and insight on the specifics 

of the trial in the Borough through a presentation and Question and Answer 

(Q&A) session at an online event. They will need to demonstrate an 

understanding of local opportunities and challenges. Both the written 

submission and the presentation / Q&A session will be assessed based on 

the marking criteria by officers and members from Rochdale Borough Council 

and TfGM. 

  

Alternatives Considered  

  

The project will support the recently approved GM Transport Strategy and 

Rochdale Local Transport Plan objective to ensure that at least half of all 

journeys of less than two kilometres within the Borough are made by 

sustainable modes of travel.  It will also support work to address the Council 

Page 32



declaration of a Climate Emergency.  This 12 month time limited e-Scooter 

Trial scheme seeks to find out whether a shared micro-mobility scheme can 

operate successfully. If it is not successful it will end on 31st March 2022. If 

successful and Members conclude that a pilot scheme be extended, the 

Council would seek to continue the scheme by a further 6 months. This would  

allow for a longer term contract to be put in place to continue the scheme, and 

to scale up and roll out a  wider project to other strategic locations across the 

Borough such as major employment sites, transport hubs and centres.  

  

The other alternative is to not take up the DfT’s decision to progress the trial.  

  

  

Costs and Budget Summary  

  

5. It is anticipated that the successful operator will incur most of the costs of 

providing vehicles, implementing and operating the scheme. The Council 

has made provision of up to £20,000 to prepare and implement any 

Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders to allow the trial to be implemented and 

any other requirements to enable the trial to take place. It will also be used 

to carry out a more comprehensive procurement process to provide a longer 

term contract to continue the trial should this be desirable.  

  

Risk and Policy Implications  

  

6. The DfT have encouraged Local Authorities to submit proposals for E-

Scooter and other shared micro-mobility schemes and they have amended 

legislation to permit these trials to be implemented and a number are already 

operating in towns and cities across the UK. A similar project has recently 

commenced in Salford.   

  

   

Consultation  

  

7. The trial is to assess the impact of introducing a new contemporary form of 

transport so the Council has worked with and been supported by Transport 

for Greater Manchester (TfGM). This will continue and Members will receive 

further updates on the success of the scheme as the trial progresses. The 

Council has had representation from the Royal National Institute for the Blind 

(RNIB) who have safety concerns for people with impaired vision, however 

as this is a trial then no formal consultation is required.   

  

The remit of the trial is for users, stakeholders and the public to provide views 

on the scheme to inform the decision on whether the trial becomes a longer 

term initiative.   

 

  

 

Page 33



Background Papers   Place of Inspection  

    

8.  Here you should detail any 

background papers –   

 e-Scooter Trial Proposal for Rochdale 

Borough Note Procurement 

Docs\Rochdale e-Scooter Trial 

Proposal Note - 14-1-2021.docx 

Draft Brief to appoint Rochdale e-

Scooter Trial Operators Procurement 

Docs\Draft Brief to appoint Rochdale 

EScooter Trial Operators - 21-1-

2021.docx 

Scorecard for e-Scooter Trial Selection 

Panel online event Procurement 

Docs\Scorecards for e-Scooter Trial 

Selection Panel Rochdale Borough -  

13-1-2021.docx 

    

For Further Information Contact:   Mark Robinson  

mark.robinson@rochdale.gov.uk  

  

Page 34

Procurement%20Docs/Rochdale%20e-Scooter%20Trial%20Proposal%20Note%20-%2014-1-2021.docx
Procurement%20Docs/Rochdale%20e-Scooter%20Trial%20Proposal%20Note%20-%2014-1-2021.docx
Procurement%20Docs/Rochdale%20e-Scooter%20Trial%20Proposal%20Note%20-%2014-1-2021.docx
Procurement%20Docs/Draft%20Brief%20to%20appoint%20Rochdale%20EScooter%20Trial%20Operators%20-%2021-1-2021.docx
Procurement%20Docs/Draft%20Brief%20to%20appoint%20Rochdale%20EScooter%20Trial%20Operators%20-%2021-1-2021.docx
Procurement%20Docs/Draft%20Brief%20to%20appoint%20Rochdale%20EScooter%20Trial%20Operators%20-%2021-1-2021.docx
Procurement%20Docs/Draft%20Brief%20to%20appoint%20Rochdale%20EScooter%20Trial%20Operators%20-%2021-1-2021.docx
Procurement%20Docs/Scorecards%20for%20e-Scooter%20Trial%20Selection%20Panel%20Rochdale%20Borough%20-%20%2013-1-2021.docx
Procurement%20Docs/Scorecards%20for%20e-Scooter%20Trial%20Selection%20Panel%20Rochdale%20Borough%20-%20%2013-1-2021.docx
Procurement%20Docs/Scorecards%20for%20e-Scooter%20Trial%20Selection%20Panel%20Rochdale%20Borough%20-%20%2013-1-2021.docx
Procurement%20Docs/Scorecards%20for%20e-Scooter%20Trial%20Selection%20Panel%20Rochdale%20Borough%20-%20%2013-1-2021.docx


1 
 

 

Report to Cabinet 

 

 

Date of Meeting 9th February 2021 

Portfolio Cabinet Member for Corporate 

Delivery 

Report Author Samantha Smith 

Public/Private Document Public 

 

Finance Update Report 2020/21 Period 8 

 

Executive Summary 

 

1. To inform Cabinet and the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the 

Council’s forecast 2020/21 financial position as at the end of November 2020, and 

additional Covid-19 funding received. 

1.1 The Finance Update report contains details of the following: 

 The forecast Revenue outturn position, which is an in-year saving of £2,162k. The 

General Fund net pressure relating to Covid-19 is £559k, largely offset by the use 

of government funding. Non-Covid-19 in-year savings are currently reported at 

£2,721k.  The net saving of £2,162k is an increase of £417k from the period 6 

position. 

 

 There continues to be a pressure on the High Needs Block Dedicated Schools 

Grant (DSG). The 2020/21 in-year pressure is £1,700k which will leave a closing 

2020/21 deficit position on the DSG reserve of £4,900k which will require 

addressing going forward. 

 

 Savings plans of £4,169k ongoing and £280k one off were included in the 2020/21 

budget. There is a balance to address of £367k relating to the impact of Covid-19, 

which is £523k less than the period 6 forecast, due to mitigating actions in Adult 

care service  

 

 An update on the Health & Social Care Pool Fund position, which, after the 

application of Covid 19 Emergency funding, will leave a breakeven position. 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

 Forecast Capital expenditure of £60,393k, after re-phasing of £11,017k and 

Capital budget changes of £722k. 

 

 The forecast 2020/21 Collection Fund position of a deficit of £27,741k, which will 

be partially mitigated by increased government Section 31 grant of £21,324k, 

leaving a residual pressure of £6,417k, the Council’s share being £5,852k, relating 

to the impact of Covid-19.   This is a favourable movement of £3,083k due to an 

improvement in forecast debt collection, reduced discounts given, and increase in 

the Section 31 grant. 

Recommendations 

 

2.1 Cabinet notes the forecast 2020/21 financial positions for Revenue, DSG, 

Capital, and the Collection Fund as at the end of November 2020, as detailed in 

section 4. 

2.2 Cabinet approves the utilisation of New Burdens Administration grants to cover 
costs incurred for administering grants related to Covid 19 of £209k, and 
government funding of £1,759k to compensate for lost Sales, Fees & Charges 
income due to Covid 19, as shown in section 4.1. 

 
2.3 Cabinet notes the £1,793k Waste Levy reserve refund which has been received 

from Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) as detailed in 4.1.2. 
 
2.4 Cabinet notes the requests for a new reserve for Children’s Services, relating to 

the No Wrong Door initiative, and 2 reserves to earmarked for Covid 19 costs 
which have not been incurred in 20/21 but are expected to materialise in future 
years; and for the budget carry forward of Neighbourhoods underspends to ring-
fence £170k of in-year savings for the provision of school meals, as detailed in 4.1. 

 
2.4 Cabinet notes the forecast Health & Social Care Pool Budget position as detailed 

in section 4.2. 
 
2.5 Cabinet approves the Budget Pressure requests detailed in section 4.3. 
 
2.6 Cabinet notes the forecast unachieved Savings target in section 4.4. 
 
2.7 Cabinet notes the net Capital budget changes of £722k detailed in section 4.6.1. 
 
2.8 Cabinet approve the amendment to the purpose of the Property Growth Fund 

capital scheme detailed in 4.6.2. 
 
2.9 Cabinet notes the Capital re-phasing of £11,017k detailed in section 4.6.3. 
 
2.10 Cabinet approves the requests to switch budgets within Economy Service as 

detailed in section 4.6.4, noting that the switch of £3,230k from the Property 
Growth Fund to the Rochdale Riverside Phase 2, and Town Centre Residential 
schemes has been approved by the Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee. 

Page 36



3 
 

Reason for Recommendation 

 

3. Cabinet Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the authority, 

as effective budget management is critical to ensuring financial resources are 

spent in line with the budget and are targeted towards the Council’s priorities. 

This report focuses on the forecast 2020/21 financial position as at the end 
November 2020. 
 

Key Points for Consideration 

 

4. Revenue Budget 2020/21 

 

The budget set by Budget Council on 26th February 2020 was £224,127k. 
Increases in budget in this financial year up to period 8 are detailed in the 
following table: 

4.1 

 
 The following amounts have increased the Council’s Revenue budget since the 

period 6 Finance Update report was finalised: 

 £39k New Burdens funding for administration support relating to Covid-19 

 £1,759k income to compensate for the loss of sales, fees and charges  

 Income as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic. 

 

Members are asked to approve the use of: 

Approved 
by 

When Reason for change 
Amount 
(£'000) 

Budget 
Council  Mar-20 Approved budget 

   
224,127  

Cabinet Apr-20 Emergency Covid-19 Funding tranche 2   6,116  

Cabinet Apr-20 Hardship Funding   3,064  

Cabinet Apr-20 
S31 - Covid-19 Grant Business Rates relief 
compensation 

20,950  

Cabinet Jul-20 Emergency Covid-19 Funding tranche 3 2,416  

Cabinet Jul-20 
Business Rates Top up Grant - final settlement 
adjustment 

677  

Cabinet Jul-20 New Burdens grant relating to Covid 19 170  

Cabinet Jul-20 S31-Business Rates Grant Relief adjustment 292  

Cabinet Oct-20 Emergency Covid-19 Funding tranche 4 6,199 

Pending Oct-20 New Burdens Funding – Admin Support Grant  39 

Pending Nov-20 
Loss of sales, fees & charges income 
compensation 1,759 

    GRAND TOTAL   265,810  

Page 37



4 
 

 New Burdens funding of £209k (£170k previously received & £39k 

received October 2020) to help to offset the increased administration costs 

for the issuing of grants relating to Covid 19.  

 

 Loss of Sales, Fees & Charges income compensation of £1,759k relating 

to Covid 19, which is being claimed from the Government. 

 

The Revenue Budget Table in 4.1.2 provides detail of budget allocations and the 
estimated 2020/21 financial position. 
 

4.1.1 The forecast position as at the end of November 2020 is a General Fund in-year 

saving of £2,162k: 

 Non Covid-19 in-year savings are forecast currently at £2,721k. 

 

 The pressure attributable to Covid-19 is £559k, net of government funding; 

this includes £367k of 2020/21 savings proposals that are not currently 

achievable. Budget will be allocated to Directorates to offset the pressures 

related to Covid-19. 

The forecast position is a movement of £417k from that reported to December 
Cabinet, of which:  
 

 £851k relates to non-Covid 19 increased in-year saving, mainly relating to 

Children’s Services, and Finance Control. The table in section 4.1.2 

provides further detail of the movements by directorate since December 

Cabinet. 

 

 £434k relates to increased forecasts for Covid-19. Most of the variation is 
due to a reduced forecast relating to compensation receivable from the 
government relating to loss of Sales, Fees & Charges income.  

 
 
4.1.2 GMCA has returned £20m of Waste reserves to the nine Greater Manchester 

waste districts. The Council has received £1,793k which has been transferred to 

the Equalisation reserve. 

 
 
 

Page 38



5 
 

The table below provides detail by Directorate:  
 

Directorate/Detail Current 

Controllable 

Net Budget 

Forecast 

Controllable 

Outurn P8 

Forecast In-

Year Saving 

(Overspend) 

Previous 

Monitoring 

Report P6 

Movement 

since 

September 

Cabinet 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Adult Care 57,611 57,611 - - - 

Children’s 49,514 48,336 1,178 756 422 

Economy 15,235 15,420 (185) - (185) 

Neighbourhoods 49,773 49,495 278 159 119 

Public Health  19,299 19,299 - - - 

Resources 14,221 14,019 202 161 41 

Total Services Spending 205,653 204,180 1,473 1,076 397 

Contribution from Integrated Pool Budget  (102,339) (102,339) - - - 

Contribution to Integrated Pool Budget 102,339 102,339 - - - 

Total Pooled Budgets 0 0 - - - 

Finance Control Corporately Held Budgets 32,921 33,673 1,248 794 454 

Covid-19 Emergency Funding 22,231 22,790 (559) (125) (434) 

Finance Control Budget Pressures 576 576 - - - 

Total Finance Control Spending 55,728 55,039 689 669 20 

Net Expenditure 261,381 261,219 2,162 1,745 417 

Uncontrollable Budget Spend 4,429 4,429 - - - 

Total Budget 265,810 265,648 2,162 1,745 417 

 
 

 
 

P
age 39



6 
 

The variations to controllable Revenue budget, by service, which are not related 

to Covid-19 are detailed below, and further detail may be found in Appendix A: 

Service Narrative 
Amount 
£'000 

Adult Care 

The core service provision is expected to break even 
with pressures from commissioned placements 
being matched by in-year savings, mainly from staff 
turnover. 

0 

Children's  

 
General Fund - Children's Social Care (CSC) has an 
underspend of £1,178k, as at 30th November 2020, 
Cared for children's numbers showed a net increase 
of 4 children, and a net reduction of 51 at Child 
Protection level since 1st April 2020. Cared for 
numbers are slightly increasing, however this still 
remains a positive position given the pandemic as 
cared for numbers continue to remain low. This is a 
critical time for CSC, the service are seeing an 
increase in referrals and complex cases. Should 
CSC be able to hold or continue to reduce Cared for 
and Child Protection numbers then the Covid 
projected costs could be significantly reduced.  
There is a pressure within SEND Transport which is 
in line with the growth throughout 2019/20 now 
having full year impact and continued growth within 
2020/21. 
 
DSG - There continues to be a pressure on the High 
Needs Block dedicated schools grant due to the 
continued growth in Education Health Care Plans 
and SEN Support. The Period 8 position is a 
£1,695k deficit; all special schools within the 
borough are now at maximum capacity therefore any 
further requests for places will ultimately have to be 
placed out of borough at independent schools which 
is a high cost provision. The service are working with 
schools at both primary and secondary level to 
increase SEND provision within the borough. The 
High needs cumulative deficit position is £4,900k. 
 

1,178 

Economy 

The Economy Directorate is reporting a forecast in-
year pressure of £185k.  There are pressures within 
Properties as a result of contract changes and 
increased property charges which are currently 
being reviewed.   

(185) 

Page 40



7 
 

Service Narrative 
Amount 
£'000 

Neighbourhoods 

The Neighbourhoods Directorate is reporting a 
forecast in-year saving of £278k. 
There are forecast in-year savings due to staff 
vacancies and net savings on supplies and services. 
There is a request to ring-fence £170k of the 
Neighbourhood Directorate in year savings to cover 
costs associated with Facilities Management 
Services in 2021/21, this will allow the service to 
offer a competitive service whilst operational 
strategies are developed. 

278 

Finance Control 

An in-year saving of £1,248k is forecast due to 
continued internal borrowing and rephasing of the 
capital programme being partially offset by reduced 
investment income.  

1,248 

Public Health The service is forecasting in line with budget 0 

Resources 

The Resources Directorate is reporting a potential 
in-year saving of £202k from current year employee 
savings due to vacant posts, temporary 
arrangements and one-off funding. These savings 
are being used to mitigate pressures within the 
Legal Shared Service with Manchester which are 
currently under discussion, and a pressure on HR 
budgets as a result of funding issues within the 
Organisational Development Team. 
A budget pressure request is being submitted at 
period 8 to fund the recurrent pressure within the 
HR/OD Team. 

202 

Total   2,721 

 
4.1.3 A request has been made to create a reserve for Children’s Services relating to 

the No Wrong Door initiative to ring-fence unutilised government funding, due to 

delays in the project. No Wrong Door is a programme currently funded by the 

Department for Education. 

Neighbourhoods directorate request to ring-fence £170k of in-year saving reported 
by the service through the budget carry forward process, to fund the future plans 
for school meals in Facilities Management, due to delays in the restructure of the 
services offered. 
 

 

Page 41



8 
 

 

 

4.1.4 The variations to controllable Revenue budget, by service, which are related to 

Covid-19 are detailed below: 

Expenditure £'000s 

Adult Social Care  8,578 

Children's Social Care 2,869 

Education 100 

Highways and transport, Public Health & Housing 5,579 

Cultural & Related 2,970 

Environmental and regulatory services 1,842 

Finance & Corporate  5,844 

Other services 1,113 

Estimated Total Spending Pressure 28,895 

Less funding received for Infection Control, Test & Trace, 
Hardship Fund and Health (via CCG) 

(17,839) 

Estimated Funding Pressure 11,056  

Income £'000s 

Sales, fees and charges 3,674  

Commercial Income 10,619  

Estimated Total reduction in Income 14,293  

Total Estimated Pressure 25,349  

Government Emergency Funding (22,231) 

Forecast Government compensation re: Sales, Fees & 

Charges Income, and use of Reserves (2,559)   

Residual Pressure 559   

 

The Government has developed an income compensation scheme for lost sales, 

fees and charges for 2020/21 as a result of the impact of Covid 19. The Council 

will be submitting claims that meet the criteria of the scheme to reduce the residual 

pressure. The current forecast for 2020/21 income that has been unachievable as 

a result of the pandemic is £1,759k, although this is subject to change during the 

remainder of the financial year. The scheme does not compensate the Council for 

any commercial income losses. 

Page 42



9 
 

Work continues to assess the financial impact and timeframe involved relating to 

Covid-19. The longer term implications are being considered to support the Council 

in its financial planning going forward. 

Two reserves are to be set up to earmark funds to be used to offset the post 

2020/21 impact of Covid 19, recognising that some of the forecast financial impact 

of the pandemic in table 4.1.4 will not materialise until 2021/22 and future years. 

The 2 reserves being established for demand led and economic pressures and the 

Government Emergency funding will be applied as and when the pressure 

materialises in future years.  

The amount to be transferred to the reserves will be finalised as part of the year 

end process, and is dependent on ongoing developments relating to the Covid 19 

pandemic. 

The Council will, with other Greater Manchester councils, continue to lobby the 

government to provide further funding to offset the ongoing financial impact of 

Covid-19. 

4.2 Health & Social Care Pool Budget 
 

As at the end of November 2020, the forecast gap in the Pooled Fund for 2020/21 

is £4,800k, this being net of specific grants and relates wholly to Covid-19 

pressures in the Council. This pressure will be funded by Government emergency 

funding, leaving a balanced position.  

The CCG are forecasting a balanced budget position as there has been a reduction 

of £1,000k previously reported within the pooled fund forecast gap. This is due to 

the continuation of the ‘command and control’ approach used by NHS 

organisations in response to significant emergencies. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



10 
 

 

 

4.3 Budget Pressures 

 

The Budget Pressure Fund for 2020/21 reported to September Cabinet was 

£576k; the following table details adjustments and requests received to the end 

of November 2020: 

 Service 

Ongoing 

£000s 

One 

off 

£000's 

Total 

£000s 

Narrative 

Opening Balance 
2020/21 Period 8 

492.7 83.1 575.8 The balance brought forward is net 
of previously approved allocations 

Period 8 Requests:     

Resources 18.8  18.8 

£18.8k in 2020/21 increasing to 
£75k in future years to provide 
recurrent funding for Organisational 
Development post & HR Business 
Partner post, previously funded 
from one off monies. 

Remaining Balance 
2020/21 

473.9 83.1 557.0 
Total of remaining pressures 
budget 

2021/22     

Resources 56.2  56.2 

£18.8k in 2020/21 increasing to 
£75k in future years to provide 
recurrent funding for Organisational 
Development post & HR Business 
Partner post, previously funded 
from one off monies. 

Neighbourhoods 60.5  60.5 

To establish a Grade 10 ICT 
Security post to deal with cyber 
security issues to help mitigate the 
increasing level of risk to the 
Council 

 

If the requests are approved the balance remaining for budget pressures in 

2020/21 is £557k; £474k ongoing and £83k one off. 

 

 

 

Page 44



11 
 

4.4 Savings 

 

The overall savings target for Services for 2020/21 is £4,451k (£4,171k recurrent, 

and £280k one-off). Services have identified savings proposals which have a 

balance to address relating to Covid-19 of £367k (which is included in the 

reported pressure of £559k in 4.1.2) as shown in the table below.  The change 

from P6 is the mitigating actions within Adults of £524k.  

Page 45



12 
 

Service Nature of Saving Savings 

Target - 

Ongoing 

Savings 

Target - 

One Off 

Achieved On-

Target 

Mitigating 

Actions 

Total 

Balance 

to 

Address 

Balance to 

Address 

relating to 

Covid-19 

Balance 

to 

Address 

Non 

Covid-19 

     £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 

  Sub Total Adults 1,284 60 255 565 524 - - - 

  Sub Total Children's 166 - - 166 - - - - 

Economy N1 Riverside Utilisation 

Income 

35 - - - - 35 35 - 

  Sub Total Economy 60 - 25 - - 35 35 - 

Neighbourhoods Capitalisation of Building 

Support Team and reduction 

in Training Budget 

100 - - 45 - 55 55 - 

Neighbourhoods Waste Vehicle cleaning 17 - - - - 17 17 - 

Neighbourhoods Additional SIMS income from 

schools outside Borough 

20 - - - - 20 20 - 

Neighbourhoods Income generation from 

advertising / Digital 

advertising screens 

 

7 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

7 

 

7 

 

- 

Neighbourhoods Place based asset 

management system 

100 - - - 60 40 40 - 

  Sub Total Neighbourhoods 499 100 276 58 126 139 139 0 

P
age 46



13 
 

Service Nature of Saving Savings 

Target - 

Ongoing 

Savings 

Target - 

One Off 

Achieved On-

Target 

Mitigating 

Actions 

Total 

Balance 

to 

Address 

Balance to 

Address 

relating to 

Covid-19 

Balance 

to 

Address 

Non 

Covid-19 

     £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 

Public Health System wide prevention 

review (including YP 

Substance Misuse and 

Sexual Health Contract 

review) 

129 - 26 - - 103 103 - 

  Sub Total Public Health 230 0 127 0 0 103 103 0 

Resources Early Payment Initiative - 120 30 - - 90 90 - 

  Sub Total Resources 

Resources 

1,932 120 1,927 - 35 90 90 0 

Savings Grand 

Total with 

Balance to 

Address 

 4,171 280 2,776 623 685 367 367 0 

P
age 47



14 
 

4.5 Transformation Fund 

 

The following schemes were due to achieve savings during 2020/21, but have been 

impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic: 

 Adult Care, Accommodation Strategy - There has been a delay to the 

progression of the Accommodation Strategy as consultancy support has been 

refocused to Covid-19 work, meaning that expenditure will be reduced from 

£120k to £66k, resulting savings of £54k will not be realised until 2021-22. 

 

 Resources, Invoice Processing/Oxygen Project – the initiative has been 

impacted by the decision at the end of March 2020 to make immediate 

payment to suppliers with the intention of ensuring service continuity and 

supporting suppliers as the impact of Covid-19 progressed. 2020/21 savings 

are forecast to be £30k rather than the original £120k.  At 27th October 

Cabinet it was agreed to resume standard supplier payment terms of 30 days. 

 

 Neighbourhoods, Place Based Asset Management – delays with the project. 

Projected savings of £100k have been partially mitigated by £60k in year 

savings within Neighbourhoods service, and the remaining £40k is forecast 

not to be achieved due to the impact of Covid-19.  

4.6 Capital Budget 2020/21 

 

The forecast position for the 2020/21 Capital Budget is £60,393k, with spend 

to date of £24,921k (41.3% of budget).  The table below shows a summary of 

the budget movements to the end of November 2020: 

  
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

£'000s £'000s £'000s 

BUDGET AS AT END OF 
SEPTEMBER 2020 

70,688 110,757 45,444 

Capital Budget Changes 722 - - 

Rephasing Requests P8 (11,017) 11,017 - 

BUDGET AS AT END OF 
NOVEMBER 2020 

60,393 121,774 45,444 

 

The 2021/22 budget as at the end of September 2020, as reported to 

December 2020 Cabinet, has been reduced by £950k, due to the rephasing of 

£950k of Climate Change budget which had been held in 2021/22 and has 

now been reallocated to 2025/26. 

 

 

Page 48



15 
 

4.6.1 Capital Budget Changes 

 

Details of the increases to capital budgets are shown in the table below 

Service Narrative 
Funding 
Method 

Capital Budget 
Increases  
£000's 

Children’s 
Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority Grant 
received 

External 
Funding 

40 

Economy Minor adjustment to P6 
Prudential 
Borrowing 

(9) 

Neighbourhoods S106 grants 
External 
Funding 

688 

Resources 

New HR & Payroll System- 
Overspend of £3k will be 
funded by Revenue 
Contribution to Capital 
(RCCO). 

RCCO 3 

Total Capital Budget Increases   722 

 

4.6.2 A request to change the nature of Property Growth Fund scheme in Economy 

is sought. This will re-categorise the scheme due to the nature of works taking 

place. Members are asked to approve the following narrative in relation to the 

scheme: Acquisition and development of property with the primary aims of 

strategic regeneration, business growth, job creation and enhancing social or 

economic value, with secondary aims of portfolio diversification and the 

achievement of a financial return in order to cover the costs of investment and 

provide for whole-life asset maintenance costs and future fluctuations in 

property investment income. 

4.6.3 Capital Re-phasing requests to the end of November 2020 which have been 

approved by the Chief Finance Officer are shown in the table below.  

 Further re-phasing of capital budget into future years later in 2020/21 is likely. 

Schemes will be affected by the impact of the on-going Covid 19 pandemic on 

the ability to progress and complete works, and also by contract issues and the 

winter weather.  

 

Page 49



16 
 

 
Service Narrative 

Rephasing 
Requested 
£000s 

 
 
Children’s 
Service 

New Place Planning- The Service is in 
discussions with the Department for Education 
about wider sufficiency within the Borough and 
working on placements going forward over the 
next five years. The building schemes to 
increase the number of pupil places at Brownhill 
Learning Community ASC school and to 
increase dining capacity at Falinge Park High 
School will be completed in the next financial 
year. 

4,500 

Economy 
Service 

Asset Development Fund - Rephase request 
from current year to 2021/22 to reflect the 
delayed start of projects. 

2,002 

Economy East Lancashire Railway: Work to undertake 
improvements at Heywood station, including the 
provision of additional car parking and signage 
have been put on hold whilst East Lancashire 
Railway have temporarily ceased operations 
during the pandemic.  It is expected these 
works will now be undertaken during 2021/22 
when services resume.   

22 

Economy 
Lower Falinge: Government grant funding was 
awarded to support the preparation of the Lower 
Falinge Supplementary Planning Document.  
The remaining funding is to support a further 
consultation on a revised document which will 
take place during 2021/22 before being 
presented to Members for final adoption. 

4 

Economy 
Heywood South/Junction 19: The rephase 
request will support further feasibility work on 
the delivery of the South Heywood link road.  
Implementation of the highway link road 
scheme was delayed during 2020 but will now 
commence on site during February 2021. 

44 

Economy 

Northern Gateway Feasibility & Study: The 
rephasing of this budget is required to match 
fund an allocation of GMCA Evergreen funding 
awarded to Rochdale and Bury Councils to 
progress work on Northern Gateway with a 
deadline for spend of the grant by December 
2021.  The awarding of this funding has 
reduced Council forecast spend during 2020/21.   

91 

Page 50



17 
 

 
Service Narrative 

Rephasing 
Requested 
£000s 

 
 
Economy 
 

Metrolink Feasibility: Work to progress further 
feasibility on the Metrolink was delayed during 
2020/21.  Subject to the adoption of the 2040 
Transport Delivery Plan by GMCA in early 2021 
it is expected further work will commence with 
Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) on 
the project during 2021/22 

50  

Economy 
Town Centre East Feasibility:  £100k to be 
rephased from 2020/21 - to be utilised in 
2021/22. 

100 

 
Neighbourhoods 
Service 

New Cemetery Sites - Request to rephase 
budgeted contribution towards the cost of toilet 
provision in Denehurst Park (£33k) and to also 
rephase budget into 2021/22 to cover the cost 
of replacing the cremators at Rochdale 
Cemetery (£497k).  The timeframe for the 
tendering of both of these contracts has been 
protracted due the impact of Covid-19. 

530 

 
Neighbourhoods 
Service 

Section 106 - Environmental Management - A 
request is made to rephase budget into 2021/22 
to facilitate the completion of the Hollin, 
Alkrington, Balderstone Park, Stansfield and 
Robinson's Common play schemes. 

474 

 
Neighbourhoods 
Service 
 

Townships Capital - Environmental 
Management - Request to rephase budgeted 
contribution towards the cost of toilet provision 
in Denehurst Park 

10 

 
Neighbourhoods 
Service 
 

Vehicle Replacement Programme - The process 
to replace a number of fleet vehicles is currently 
underway.  During the procurement process it 
has been established that, in the current 
economic climate, the time taken to purchase 
vehicles has extended beyond the normal 
timeframes and a request is therefore made to 
rephase budget into 2021/22. 

800 

Neighbourhoods 
Service 
 

GM Full Fibre Programme - The majority of the 
scheme will now be completed in 2021/22.  

250 

Neighbourhoods 
Service 
 

CCTV Upgrade - A request is made to rephase 
budget into 2021/22 as there has been a delay 
in implementing the scheme 

172 

Neighbourhoods 
Service 
 

Townships Capital Programme - A request is 
made to rephase back £140k from 2021/22 to 
fund ongoing commitments in 2020/21. 

(140) 

Page 51



18 
 

 

4.6.4 The following budget switches are requested to fund expenditure: 

Service Scheme Budget 
Switches 
£000s 

Economy Middleton Town Centre Phase 3:  This 
budget was initially removed during the 
capital realignment programme, but is 
needed as part of grant match funding 
requirements. Budgets to be switched in 
2020/21 from Hopwood Hall Feasibility 
£50k and from Hopwood Hall 
Refurbishment £36k 

86 

Economy Hopwood Hall Refurbishment : To be 
switched to Hopwood Hall Emergency 
works scheme 

(36) 

Economy Hopwood Old Hall Feasibility: Now 
included as part of the Town Centre 
Capital Programme. £50k to be switched to 
Hopwood Hall Emergency scheme 

(50) 

Economy Town Hall Adaptation and Restoration: The 
tenders for the Phase 1 Town Hall works 
came in over budget and the additional 
budget is needed to cover these increased 
tender costs. 

300 

Economy Town Centre Schemes 2016/17: The 
additional Towns Fund and European 
Regional Development Fund (ERDF) 
funding received for this project allows 
budget to be switched to support the 
Phase 1 Town Hall works. 

(300) 

Economy Drake Street Phase 2:  The South Parade 
and lower Drake Street property 
improvement works are partly funded from 
the 3 Year Strategy budget. Work is due to 
start on site in Q4 of 2020/21 and the 
switch from Rochdale Town Centre 3 Year 
Strategy scheme will ensure effective 
delivery. 

600 

 
Service Narrative 

Rephasing 
Requested 
£000s 

Public Health Link4Life Capital Projects: - Request to rephase 
budget to 2021/22 due to delays caused by 
Covid. 

608 

Resources Investment Fund- Corporate Fund – not 
expected to be called upon in 2020/21, 
therefore a request is being made to rephase 
into 2021/22. 

1,500 

 Total Rephasing 11,017 

Page 52



19 
 

Service Scheme Budget 
Switches 
£000s 

Economy Rochdale Town Centre 3 Year Strategy : 
This is to be switched to fund expenditure 
on the Drake Street scheme 

(600) 

Economy Town Centre Residential Strategy:  The 
design work on the Neighbourhood 
Rochdale residential scheme is being 
progressed quicker than originally 
envisaged and will incur spend during 
2020/21. The current 2020/21 budget will 
be increased from other budgets which will 
then be reconciled when the additional 
budget of £2,200k for the Residential 
Strategy becomes available in 2021/22 

1,100 

Economy Rochdale Riverside Phase 2: £2,430k to 
be switched from the Property Growth 
Fund budget to cover enabling works costs 

2,430 

Economy Milkstone Road Master Plan: £200k to be 
switched to Town Centre Residential 
Strategy scheme 

(200) 

Economy Rochdale Market : The costs of the works 
to the building are less than envisaged 
allowing a budget to be switched to support 
the Town Centre Residential Strategy 
scheme 

(100) 

Economy Property Growth Fund: Funding switch of 
£2,430k to Rochdale Riverside Phase Two 
and £800k to Neighbourhood Rochdale 
(TC Residential Strategy) for one year only 
as agreed by PGF Sub-Committee 

(3,230) 

Neighbourhoods Section 106 - Environmental Management 
- A funding switch is requested from the 
cashless system school catering to support 
s106 - Environmental Balderstone project 

6 

Neighbourhoods Cashless System School Catering - A 
funding switch is requested to support 
s106 - Environmental Balderstone project 

(6) 

 Total 0 

 

4.6.5 Capital Receipts 

Capital receipts are received on the sale of various assets including land, 

buildings and vehicles. The forecast movements in the Capital Receipts 

Reserve during 2020/21, and provisionally for 2021/22 to 2022/23 are included 

in the table below. 

 

 

Page 53



20 
 

Description 
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

 
£000’s 

 
£000’s 

 
£000’s 

Capital Receipts balance as at 1st April 2020 11,142 10,772 2,325 

Use of Capital Receipts to fund 2020/21 Capital 
Programme, including prior year schemes 
rephased into 2020/21 

(2,914) - - 

Use of Capital Receipts to fund provisional 
2021/22 and 2022/23 Capital Programmes, and 
2020/21 rephasing into future years 

- (6,392) (44) 

Earmarked use of receipts to fund other future 
commitments  

- (3,540) - 

Capital Receipts income 2,544 1,485 600 

Forecast Capital Receipts balance as at 31st 
March 2021 

10,772  2,325  2,881  

 

4.6.6 The forecast uncommitted Capital Receipts Reserve balance as at the end of 

2022/23 is £2,881k. 

 

4.7 Collection Fund 

4.7.1 The forecast Collection Fund outturn position for 2020/21 is a deficit of 
£27,741k, comprising: 

 

 £24,265k deficit relating to Business Rates, partially offset by 

Section 31 grant of £21,324k; 

 £3,476k deficit relating to Council Tax. 

The 2020/21 Collection Fund is forecast to be significantly impacted by the 

impact of Covid-19 and Government initiatives. This will impact on the Council’s 

General Fund in 2021/22, and there is expected to be a longer term impact on 

the level of Business Rates and Council Tax income. 

4.7.2 Table 1 shows the forecast 2020/21 Collection Fund position, and the 

allocation between precepting authorities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



21 
 

Table 1 – 2020/21 Collection Fund forecast deficit 

  Business Rates Council Tax Total 

  % £'000 % £'000 £'000 

Forecast Collection Fund 
(surplus)/deficit at 31/03/21   24,265   3,476 27,741 

            
Preceptors' Share of 
2020/21 outturn           

Rochdale BC 99 24,022 84.61 2,941 26,963 
GMCA Mayoral Police & 
Crime Commissioner  0 0 10.71 372 372 
GMCA Mayoral General  
(including Fire Services)    1.00  243 4.68 163 406 

            

Total forecast outturn 
(surplus)/deficit 100 24,265 100 3,476 27,741 

 

The Council’s share of the forecast Collection Fund deficit is £26,963k, which 

will be partially offset by Government Section 31 grant funding of £21,111k, 

leaving a net deficit position of £5,852k.  

The following table provides the explanation of variances relating to Business 

Rates: 

Explanation of variance 

Variation 
to 

budget, 
£'000 

Decreased net Business Rates income principally due to the 
government decision to give 100% relief to the Retail, Leisure and 
Hospitality sectors for 2020/21, linked to the Covid19 pandemic; 
Section 31 grant to offset the discount given is received in the 
Council's General Fund. Reduced levels of gross income and higher 
levels of Empty Property discount are also forecast, linked to the 
impact of the pandemic. 

23,299 

Increased charge relating to the bad debt provision due to the likely 
impact of Covid19 on debt collection. 

1,732 

Actual surplus brought forward from 2019/20 is £766k higher than had 
been forecast as part of the 2020/21 Budget process.  

(766) 

2020/21 Deficit 24,265 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



22 
 

The following table provides an explanation of variances relating to Council 

Tax: 

Explanation of variance 
Variation 
to budget, 

£000 

Reduced level of discounts given partially offset by reduced 
Council Tax income raised. 

(323) 

Forecast increased level of Local Council Tax Support discount 
given due to increased numbers of claimants, partially offset by 
government Hardship Funding. 

1,426 

Increased charge relating to the bad debt provision as a result of 
anticipated impact of Covid 19 on debt collection. 

759 

A deficit of £937k brought forward from 2019/20 instead of the 
£(677)k surplus forecast as part of the 2020/21 Budget process. 
This was mainly due to the decision to increase the level of the 
Bad Debt provision as a consequence of the likely impact of 
Covid19. 

1,614 

2020/21 Forecast Deficit 3,476 

 

The Council’s share of any 2020/21 Collection Fund deficit will be partially 

brought into the Council’s General Fund budget for 2021/22. The government 

has implemented a scheme which will spread any Council Tax or Business 

Rates deficit for 2020/21 over the three financial years 2021/22 to 2023/24, to 

partially mitigate the impact of any deficit on 2021/22. 

There will be a longer term impact on Collection Fund income which is 

dependent on the recovery of businesses and households. This will impact on 

the Council’s core funding for services. Work is ongoing to assess the longer 

term impact on the Council’s financial position. 

4.9 Alternatives considered 

4.9.1 Not reporting on financial performance puts at risk the achievement of the 

Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. Effective budget management is critical 

to ensuring financial resources are spent in line with the budget and are 

targeted towards the Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early 

identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely corrective 

action. 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

The main body of the report provides a detailed analysis of the forecast 
2020/21 Finance Outturn position. 
 
 
 

Page 56



23 
 

 
 
 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. There are no significant legal implications arising as a result of this Report to 

the Cabinet and the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, but it 
should be noted that debts, which are recoverable, can be enforced by Court 
action in accordance with the Court Procedure Rules. 

 
The impact of Covid-19 pressures relating to additional expenditure and lost 

income is estimated to have a very significant impact on the Council’s financial 

position both in 2020/21 and in the medium term. The Council has completed a 

review of its reserves to assess whether some of the financial pressure may be 

mitigated in both the short and longer term. The use of reserves to address 

pressures as a result of the Covid-19 outbreak is a one off solution which cannot 

be sustained in the long term. The Council has indicated that any reserves 

deployed would require replenishing to their original value. The Council is 

continuing to lobby the government to provide further funding to offset the 

pressures. 

Unresolved appeals against the revaluation assessments for 2005, 2010 and 

2017 cause uncertainty and financial risk for the Business Rates income 

retained by the Council. The situation is monitored on a monthly basis to ensure 

that any changes in the trend for successful appeals are recognised due to the 

future impact on Business Rates income and the impact for the provision for 

any backdated elements. 

 The Valuation Office Agency (VOA) alters rating assessments if new 

information comes to light indicating that the valuation is inaccurate. These 

could relate to a demolition, new property builds or other physical changes to a 

property. The number of alterations, financial impact and timing of the 

revaluations are not within the control of the Council. There is an on-going risk 

that issues decided nationally by the VOA could potentially impact on Rochdale 

BC’s Business Rates income. 

 The future level of collection of Corporate Debt, Business Rates and Council 

Tax debt is a potential financial risk, particularly with the impact of the Covid-19 

pandemic. Collection performance is being monitored on a monthly basis to 

ensure that debt is recovered as efficiently and effectively as possible, whilst 

making adjustments to reflect the current circumstances being imposed on 

businesses and residents, and so that any trends may be highlighted and action 

taken as necessary, at the appropriate time. Debt collection is likely to be 

significantly affected by the impact of Covid-19 both in this financial year and 

future years, and the forecast 2020/21 bad debt charges and provisions have 

been increased to reflect the increased risk of non-collection. 

  

Page 57



24 
 

 

 

Consultation 

 
7. All services engage with the production of the directorate based financial 

information within this report. The Leadership Team, the Leader, Cabinet 

Member for Finance, and Opposition Portfolio holder for Finance have been 

informed of the forecast 2020/21 financial position of the Council and its 

implications for future years. The report has been presented to the Corporate 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 8th February 2021. 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. For further information about this 

report or access to any 

background papers contact 

Samantha Smith 

No1 Riverside Floor 2  

 

For Further Information Contact: Samantha Smith, Samantha.Smith@rochdale.gov.uk  

Tel : 01706 924198 

 

  

Page 58

mailto:Samantha.Smith@rochdale.gov.uk


25 
 

Appendix A – Revenue Budget ‘Variations to budget’ narrative – November 2020 

Service Narrative Budget 

£'000s 

Forecast 

Spend 

£’000s 

Variance 

£’000s 

Adult Care Management :- In-year pressures relating to staffing, Service Level 

Agreements and ICT costs 

6,634 6,707 (73) 

Adult Care Neighbourhoods:- Forecast pressure from commissioned places for service 

users 

41,729 41,882 (153) 

Adult Care Boroughwide Services:- Forecast pressures from commissioned places for 

service users 

3,675 3,741 (66) 

Adult Care In House Provider Services:-  Forecast in-year saving due to staff turnover 925 657 268 

Adult Care Governance Business Support & Home Improvement Agency:-  Forecast in-

year saving due to staff turnover 

873 748 125 

Adult Care Commissioning:-  In-year pressure from delay in achievement of savings from 

Prevention contracts, mitigated by savings elsewhere in the service 

2,364 2,475 (111) 

Adult Care Statutory Functions:- minor variations 830 820 10 

Adult Care Adult Care Variation to Budget  57,030 57,030 0 

Children's  Cared for Children:-  Underspend related to a reduction in placement costs as 

cared for children’s numbers have been reducing steadily since April, numbers 

have increased by a net 4 in November however not all cared for children 

attract placement costs as some children are placed within the family/friends 

network. Deflections budget of £511k now added back to the placements 

budget which has helped to improve the position. 

26,668 25,972 696 

P
age 59



26 
 

Service Narrative Budget 

£'000s 

Forecast 

Spend 

£’000s 

Variance 

£’000s 

Children's  Practice Improvement: - Underspend largely due to one off savings related to 

current vacant posts/delays in recruitment £259k and additional income 

achieved on ASYE. 

1,960 1,668 292 

Children's  Early Help/Sure Start: - Savings in relation to vacant posts and delays in 

recruitment, the service are in the final stages of a restructure. 

5,043 4,785 258 

Children's  School Support: - Overachievement of income on Personnel and Governors 

Service and underspends on bus passes. 

1,391 1,133 258 

Children's  Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND):- The significant growth 

within SEND is putting increased pressure on SEND transport. This is in line 

with the pressure on the High Needs Dedicated Schools Grant. Both budgets 

are now feeling the pressure of full year impact of the growth in SEND 

numbers in 2019/20 and continued growth in 2020/21. 

6,402 6,788 (386) 

Children's  Youth Service: - Underspends relating to vacant posts and activities as events 

cannot happen in the same format due to Covid. 

71 11 60 

Children's High Needs Block - Pressure due to the full year impact of 2019/20 growth of 

Education Health Care Plans and the continued growth within 2020/21. 

Rochdale special schools are now at full capacity so all future requests for 

places will result in out of borough Independent schools which is a high cost 

provision. The service and schools are working together to increase in-borough 

provision. 

0 1695 (1695) 

P
age 60



27 
 

Service Narrative Budget 

£'000s 

Forecast 

Spend 

£’000s 

Variance 

£’000s 

Children's  Contribution from DSG Reserve: - 2019/20 High Needs deficit £3.2m, including 

the in-year position this is now £4.9m. 

0 (1,695) 1,695 

Children's Children's Services Variation to Budget  41,535 40,357 1,178 

Economy Properties: - In-year pressure as a result of contract changes within Corporate 

Landlord and increased property charges to Estates.  Investigations are 

currently taking place to understand the issue regarding property charges, 

which may result in a change to the pressure that is currently being reported. 

92 177 (85) 

Economy Property Growth Fund: - In-year pressure due to timescales involved in Direct 

Development Projects and Commercial Review of existing Industrial Estate 

assets.  These pressures are expected to be short term with projects forecast 

to perform better than expected in the longer term from the next financial year 

onwards. 

(2,019) (1,919) (100) 

Economy Economy Variation to Budget (1,927) (1,742) (185) 

Finance Control Interest: - Continued internal borrowing and rephasing the capital program 

offset by reduced investment income. 

7,311 6,009 1,302 

Finance Control Debt Repayment:-  Small ad hoc variations 9,965 10,019 (54) 

Finance Control Finance Control Variation to Budget 17,276 16,028 1,248 

Neighbourhoods Facilities Management:-   In-year saving due to staff vacancies within School 

Trading Accounts and Number One Riverside 

2,556 2,458 98 

P
age 61



28 
 

Service Narrative Budget 

£'000s 

Forecast 

Spend 

£’000s 

Variance 

£’000s 

Neighbourhoods Environmental Management: - Pressures relating to the under achievement of 

income targets and to an increase in the rent of the depot.  These are offset by 

in-year savings on supplies and fuel and from delayed filling of vacant posts. 

10,909 10,844 65 

Neighbourhoods Coroners: -   In-year saving due to delay in the scanning project and reduced 

activity in the service. 

642 562 80 

Neighbourhoods Community & Townships:   In-year saving due to staff vacancies within 

Libraries. 

3,936 3,853 83 

Neighbourhoods Strategic Housing: - There is a £476k pressure in respect of housing benefit 

and homelessness costs which are not fully covered by Government subsidy. 

Corporate funding has been earmarked to address any shortfall.  There is an 

in-year pressure of £48k in respect of the Discretionary Crisis Fund. 

2,239 2,287 (48) 

Neighbourhoods Neighbourhoods Service Variation to Budget 20,282 20,004 278 

Resources Other Managed Budgets: - In-year savings as a result of vacant posts at Head 

of Service level, plus other temporary arrangements and one-off savings in 

2020/21. 

4,893 4,582 311 

Resources Revenues and Benefits: - In-year savings as a result of one off funding. 1,270 1,169 101 

Resources Legal Services: -   Pressure within the Shared Legal Service with Manchester 

City Council which is currently under discussion with partners. 

1,943 2,228 (285) 

P
age 62



29 
 

Service Narrative Budget 

£'000s 

Forecast 

Spend 

£’000s 

Variance 

£’000s 

Resources Human Resources: - There is a recurrent pressure within HR/Organisational 

Development due to funding issues in relation to two posts.  Following a report 

to Leadership Team, a budget pressure request is being submitted at period 8.   

1,860 1,869 (9) 

Resources Internal Audit: - In-year savings related to staffing. 628 614 14 

Resources Governance: - In-year savings related to staffing. 1,805 1,735 70 

Resources Resources Service Variation to Budget 12,399 12,197 202 

Grand Total Total Variation to Revenue Budget - November 2020 2,721 

 

P
age 63



30 
 

Appendix B – Capital Forecast Spend by Scheme as at November 2020 

Service Scheme 
 2020/21 
budget, £k  

 2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

 
Variation, 
£k  

 

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

 
2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

 Total 
budget, 
£k  

Adult Care 
Better Care Fund 

                
563  

                
563  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                
563  

Adult Care 
Disabled Facilities Grant 

             
2,706  

             
2,706  

                   
-     

             
2,633  

             
2,633  

             
7,972  

Adult Care   
             

3,269  
             

3,269  
                   

-     

             
2,633  

             
2,633  

             
8,535  

Children's 
Aiming High For Disabled Child 

                   
-    

                   
-    

                   
-     

                  
42  

                   
-    

                  
42  

Children's 
Devolved Formula Capital 

             
1,260  

             
1,260  

                   
-     

                
483  

                
483  

             
2,226  

Children's 
Early Years Capital Grant 

                  
40  

                  
40  

                   
-     

                  
19  

                   
-    

                  
59  

Children's 
New Place Planning 

             
9,520  

             
5,020  

             
4,500   

           
27,200  

             
5,200  

           
41,920  

Children's 
Schools Access 

                    
2  

                    
2  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                    
2  

Children's 
Schools Cap Condition Programme 

             
3,774  

             
3,774  

                   
-     

             
2,673  

             
1,833  

             
8,280  

Children's 
Healthy Pupils Capital Fund 

                  
16  

                  
16  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
16  

Children's 
Special Provision Capital Fund 

                
304  

                
304  

                   
-     

                
304  

                   
-    

                
608  

Children's 
CWD Residential Home 

                  
30  

                  
30  

                   
-     

             
1,084  

                   
-    

             
1,114  

Children's 
  

           
14,946  

           
10,446  

             
4,500   

           
31,805  

             
7,516  

           
54,267  

P
age 64



31 
 

Service Scheme 
 2020/21 
budget, £k  

 2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

 
Variation, 
£k  

 

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

 
2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

 Total 
budget, 
£k  

Economy 
Definitive ROW Improvement 
Programme 

                  
54  

                  
54  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
54  

Economy 
River Roch Flood Storage 

                
597  

                
597  

                   
-     

             
1,000  

             
1,250  

             
2,847  

Economy 
Rochdale Gateways Environmental 
Programme 

                  
46  

                  
46  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
46  

Economy 
Stakehill Industrial Estate 

                    
1  

                    
1  

                   
-     

                  
50  

                   
-    

                  
51  

Economy 
Asset Development Fund 

             
2,713  

                
711  

             
2,002   

                   
-    

                   
-    

             
2,713  

Economy 
Property Growth Fund 

             
5,582  

             
2,352  

             
3,230   

           
20,000  

           
15,000  

           
40,582  

Economy 
East Lancashire Railway 

                
102  

                  
80  

                  
22   

                
300  

                   
-    

                
402  

Economy 
Lower Falinge 

                    
4  

                   
-    

                    
4   

                   
-    

                   
-    

                    
4  

Economy 
Heywood South/Junction 19 

                  
64  

                  
20  

                  
44   

             
2,700  

                   
-    

             
2,764  

Economy 
Railway Strategy Park & Ride 

                
106  

                
106  

                   
-     

                
200  

                   
-    

                
306  

Economy 
Northern Gateway Feasibility & Study 

                
301  

                
210  

                  
91   

                
244  

                   
-    

                
545  

Economy 
Pennine Holl Lake Feasibility 

                  
46  

                  
46  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
46  

Economy 
Metrolink Feasibility 

                  
50  

                   
-    

                  
50   

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
50  

Economy 
Birch Fountain & Horse Trough-
Middleton 

                  
22  

                  
22  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
22  

P
age 65



32 
 

Service Scheme 
 2020/21 
budget, £k  

 2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

 
Variation, 
£k  

 

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

 
2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

 Total 
budget, 
£k  

Economy 
East Lancashire Railway - Castleton 
Mast 

                
500  

                
500  

                   
-     

                
750  

                   
-    

             
1,250  

Economy 
SmithyBridge Railway Station 

                
100  

                
100  

                   
-     

                
300  

                   
-    

                
400  

Economy 
Middleton Town Centre Phase 3 

                    
5  

                  
91  

                 
(86)   

                   
-    

                   
-    

                    
5  

Economy 
Town Centre East Feasibility 

                
272  

                
172  

                
100   

                
200  

                   
-    

                
472  

Economy 
Town Hall Adaptation and Restoration 

             
2,586  

             
2,886  

            
(300)   

             
1,700  

             
3,500  

             
7,786  

Economy 
Rochdale Market 

                
205  

                
105  

                
100   

                   
-    

                   
-    

                
205  

Economy 
Town Hall Square PH2 

                
330  

                
330  

                   
-     

                
634  

             
2,200  

             
3,164  

Economy 
Drake Street Phase 2 

                  
20  

                
620  

               
(600)   

                
600  

                
100  

                
720  

Economy 
Town Centre Schemes 2016/17 

                
589  

                
289  

                
300   

                  
50  

                   
-    

                
639  

Economy 
Rochdale Town Centre 3 Year Strategy 

             
1,272  

                
672  

                
600   

                
250  

                   
-    

             
1,522  

Economy 
Hopwood Hall Refurbishment 

                  
48  

                  
12  

                  
36   

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
48  

Economy 
Town Centre Residential Strategy 

                
267  

             
1,367  

            
(1,100)   

             
2,200  

                   
-    

             
2,467  

Economy 
Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 

             
2,279  

             
4,709  

            
(2,430)   

                   
-    

                   
-    

             
2,279  

Economy 
Milkstone Road Master Plan 

                
250  

                  
50  

                
200   

             
1,997  

                   
-    

             
2,247  

P
age 66



33 
 

Service Scheme 
 2020/21 
budget, £k  

 2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

 
Variation, 
£k  

 

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

 
2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

 Total 
budget, 
£k  

Economy 
Hey/Midd/Litt Town Centre Masterplans 

                
160  

                
160  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                
160  

Economy 
Hopwood Old Hall - Feasibility 

                  
50  

                   
-    

                  
50   

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
50  

Economy 
  

           
18,621  

           
16,308  

             
2,313   

           
33,175  

           
22,050  

           
73,846  

Neighbourhoods 
ICT Infrastructure Refresh Programme 

                
567  

                
567  

                   
-     

                
444  

                
444  

             
1,455  

Neighbourhoods 
ICT Data Centre 

                
162  

                
162  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                
162  

Neighbourhoods 
ICT Programmes (Staff) 

                
526  

                
526  

                   
-     

                
500  

                
500  

             
1,526  

Neighbourhoods 
Townships Capital Programme 

                
189  

                
329  

               
(140)   

                
400  

                
400  

                
989  

Neighbourhoods 
Housing Standards Fund 

                
564  

                
564  

                   
-     

                
800  

                
800  

             
2,164  

Neighbourhoods 
Kirkholt Investment 

                
273  

                
273  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                
273  

Neighbourhoods 
New Cemetery Sites 

                
714  

                
184  

                
530   

                   
-    

                   
-    

                
714  

Neighbourhoods 
Replacement Parks/Street Machinery 

                  
86  

                  
86  

                   
-     

                
120  

                
120  

                
326  

Neighbourhoods 
Rights Of Way 

                  
88  

                  
88  

                   
-     

                  
80  

                  
80  

                
248  

Neighbourhoods 
Rochdale Cemetery Lodge Repair 

                
176  

                
176  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                
176  

Neighbourhoods 
Section 106 - Environmental 
Management 

             
2,094  

             
1,626  

                
468   

                   
-    

                   
-    

             
2,094  

P
age 67



34 
 

Service Scheme 
 2020/21 
budget, £k  

 2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

 
Variation, 
£k  

 

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

 
2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

 Total 
budget, 
£k  

Neighbourhoods 
Townships Capital - Environmental 
Management 

                
140  

                
130  

                  
10   

                   
-    

                   
-    

                
140  

Neighbourhoods 
Upgrade Play Equipment 

                
204  

                
204  

                   
-     

                  
75  

                  
75  

                
354  

Neighbourhoods 
Vehicle Replacement Programme 

             
2,026  

             
1,226  

                
800   

             
1,405  

             
1,839  

             
5,270  

Neighbourhoods 
Waste Bin Replacement Programme 

                
360  

                
360  

                   
-     

                
360  

                
360  

             
1,080  

Neighbourhoods 
Asset Management Group 

             
2,300  

             
2,300  

                   
-     

             
1,750  

             
1,750  

             
5,800  

Neighbourhoods 
Local Transport Plan 

             
2,544  

             
2,544  

                   
-     

             
1,967  

             
1,967  

             
6,478  

Neighbourhoods 
Townships Capital - Highways 

                
440  

                
440  

                   
-     

                
150  

                   
-    

                
590  

Neighbourhoods 
Burglary Reduction Scheme 

                
100  

                
100  

                   
-     

                
100  

                
100  

                
300  

Neighbourhoods 
Energy Efficiency Schemes 

                  
84  

                  
84  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
84  

Neighbourhoods 
Coroners Service accommodation 

                
156  

                
156  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                
156  

Neighbourhoods 
Additional Highways Funding 

                
219  

                
219  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                
219  

Neighbourhoods 
J19 Feasibility 

             
3,500  

             
3,500  

                   
-     

           
23,032  

                   
-    

           
26,532  

Neighbourhoods 
Developer Contributions 

                  
75  

                  
75  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
75  

Neighbourhoods 
Property Transfers From Townships 

                  
42  

                  
42  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
42  

P
age 68



35 
 

Service Scheme 
 2020/21 
budget, £k  

 2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

 
Variation, 
£k  

 

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

 
2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

 Total 
budget, 
£k  

Neighbourhoods 
GM Full Fibre Programme 

                
300  

                  
50  

                
250   

                
626  

                   
-    

                
926  

Neighbourhoods 
Service Desk System Replacement 

                  
60  

                  
60  

                   
-     

                  
50  

                  
50  

                
160  

Neighbourhoods 
Compulsory Purchase Order 
Programme 

                
490  

                
490  

                   
-     

             
1,300  

             
1,430  

             
3,220  

Neighbourhoods 
Travellers Authorised Stopping Site 

                  
70  

                  
70  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
70  

Neighbourhoods 
Climate Emergency 

                  
50  

                  
50  

                   
-     

             
1,000  

             
1,000  

             
2,050  

Neighbourhoods 
Car Parking Machines 

                  
18  

                  
18  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
18  

Neighbourhoods 
Cashless System School Catering 

                    
6  

                   
-    

                    
6   

                   
-    

                   
-    

                    
6  

Neighbourhoods 
Dippy Exhibition Equipment 

                    
3  

                    
3  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                    
3  

Neighbourhoods 
N1R Revolving Doors 

                   
-    

                   
-    

                   
-     

                
120  

                   
-    

                
120  

Neighbourhoods 
Allotments 2017-18 Manifesto Funding 

                  
50  

                  
50  

                   
-     

                
123  

                   
-    

                
173  

Neighbourhoods 
Accelerated Housing 

                
150  

                
150  

                   
-     

             
1,250  

                
650  

             
2,050  

Neighbourhoods 
Affordable Housing 

             
2,751  

             
2,751  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

             
2,751  

Neighbourhoods 
Customer Transformation Programme 

             
1,225  

             
1,225  

                   
-     

                
150  

                   
-    

             
1,375  

Neighbourhoods 
CCTV Upgrade 

                
172  

                   
-    

                
172   

                   
-    

                   
-    

                
172  

P
age 69



36 
 

Service Scheme 
 2020/21 
budget, £k  

 2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

 
Variation, 
£k  

 

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

 
2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

 Total 
budget, 
£k  

Neighbourhoods 
Library Self Service 

                  
70  

                  
70  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
70  

Neighbourhoods 
Extended Library Hours 

                   
-    

                   
-    

                   
-     

                
150  

                   
-    

                
150  

Neighbourhoods 
GM Air Quality Monitoring Station 

                  
52  

                  
52  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
52  

Neighbourhoods 
Town Centre Signage 

                  
62  

                  
62  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

                  
62  

Neighbourhoods 
Highway Investment Programme 

             
5,225  

             
5,225  

                   
-     

             
2,000  

             
1,320  

             
8,545  

Neighbourhoods 
Bowlee Free School 

                
200  

                
200  

                   
-     

             
1,184  

                   
-    

             
1,384  

Neighbourhoods 
           

28,583  
           

26,487  
             

2,096   

           
39,136  

           
12,885  

           
80,604  

Public Health 
Link4Life Capital Project 

                
608  

                   
-    

                
608   

             
4,008  

                
360  

             
4,976  

Public Health 
                

608  
                   

-    
                

608   

             
4,008  

                
360  

             
4,976  

Resources 
New HR & Payroll System 

                
151  

                
154  

                   
(3)   

                   
-    

                   
-    

                
151  

Resources 
Manchester Airport 

             
3,730  

             
3,730  

                   
-     

                   
-    

                   
-    

             
3,730  

Resources 
Investment Fund 

             
1,500  

                   
-    

             
1,500   

                   
-    

                   
-    

             
1,500  

Resources 
             

5,381  
             

3,884  
             

1,497   

                   
-    

                   
-    

             
5,381  

                 

P
age 70



37 
 

Service Scheme 
 2020/21 
budget, £k  

 2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

 
Variation, 
£k  

 

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

 
2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

 Total 
budget, 
£k  

Total Capital Forecast Position at November 2020 71,407 60,393 11,014  110,757 45,444 227,609 

 

P
age 71



38 
 

Appendix C – Collection Fund 

Business Rates 

The 2020/21 forecast outturn position relating to Business Rates is a deficit 

of £24,265k.  

Description Budget 

2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn 

(Surplus)/  
Deficit 

(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 
movement 
from 
previous 
update 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Gross income (87,190) (86,198) 992 (146) 

Net Small Business Rate relief 7,682 8,200 518 0 

Mandatory Charitable relief 4,354 4,354 0 0 

Discretionary relief 1,983 22,886 20,903 464 

Empties & Part Occupied relief 3,614 4,500 886 (1,000) 

Net Income (69,557) (46,258) 23,299 (682) 

Less:          

Charge re bad debt provision 800 2,532 1,732 (652) 

Allowance for cost of collection 308 308 0 0 
Provision for rateable value 
revaluations  3,932 3,932 0 0 

Renewable energy schemes 582 582 0 0 

Net yield (63,935) (38,904) 25,031 (1,334) 

2020/21 payments to preceptors/billing 
authority 63,935 63,935 0 0 

In year (surplus)/deficit 0 25,031 25,031 (1,334) 

(Surplus)/deficit brought forward from 
2019/20 (1,103) (1,869) (766) 0 
Payments to preceptors/billing 
authority re 2019/20 surplus per the 
2020/21 Budget process 1,103 1,103 0 0 

Forecast (Surplus)/Deficit as at 
31/03/2021 0 24,265 24,265 (1,334) 

 

  

Page 72



39 
 

 

Council Tax 

 
Net Income Raised 
 
The 2020/21 forecast position relating to Council Tax is a deficit of £3,476k.  

2020/21 Forecast Council Tax Income 

Description Budget 
2020/21 
Outturn 

(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

movement 
from 

previous 
report 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

INCOME         

Income from Council Tax (144,213) (144,100) 113 (200) 
Income from premium on Empty 
Properties (453) (550) (97) -  

Council Tax discounts  14,598 14,167 (431) (130)  
Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
(LCTSS) 19,251 20,677 1,426 (823)  

Prior year adjustments 208 300 92 - 

Total income (110,609) (109,506) 1,103 (1,153) 

EXPENDITURE         

Charge re bad debt provision 2,212 2,971 759 (222) 

Total expenditure 2,212 2,971 759 (222) 

Net income to be raised for precept/ 
billing authority after LCTSS 
awarded (108,397) (106,535) 1,862 (1375) 

2020/21 payments to Preceptors/billing 
authority 108,397 108,397 -  -  

In year (surplus)/deficit -  1,862 1,862 (1,375) 

(Surplus)/deficit brought forward from 
2018/19 (677) 937 1,614 -  

Payments to preceptors re 2018/19 
surplus as per the 2019/20 Budget 
process 677 677 -  -  

Forecast (Surplus)/Deficit as at 
31/03/2021 -  3,476 3,476 (1,375) 

 

 

Page 73



Document is Restricted

Page 74

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	5 GM Clean Air Plan Update
	6 Discretionary Fees & Charges 2020/21– Careline Service
	7 E-Scooter Trial -  Permission to Tender
	8 Finance Update Report 2020/21 Period 8
	4. Revenue Budget 2020/21
	4.2 Health & Social Care Pool Budget
	4.3 Budget Pressures
	4.4 Savings
	4.5 Transformation Fund
	4.6 Capital Budget 2020/21
	4.6.1 Capital Budget Changes

	10 Management of Hollingworth Lake Country Park - Proposal for Investment

